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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  

 

To: Board of Directors and Management 

of the Public Buildings Authority 

San Juan, Puerto Rico 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities of the Public Buildings Authority 

(the Authority),  as of and for the year ended June 30, 2022, and the related notes to the financial statements, which 

collectively comprise the Authority’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial 

position of the business-type activities of the Authority, as of June 30, 2022, and the respective changes in financial position 

and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of 

America.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are required to be independent of the Authority, and to meet our other ethical 

responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence 

we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.  

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and 

maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered 

in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months 

beyond the financial statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly 

thereafter. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinions. Reasonable assurance 

is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 

accordance with generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk 

of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 

collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are 

considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 

judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards, we: 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.



 

 

 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, 

evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Authority’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates 

made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 

doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope 

and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we identified during the 

audit. 

Required Supplementary Information  

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis, Schedule of Changes in the Authority’s Total Pension Liability and Related Ratios and Schedule of Changes in 

the Authority’s Total OPEB Liability and Related Ratios be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such 

information is the responsibility of management and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the 

Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the 

basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited 

procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 

United States of America, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and 

comparing the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, 

and other knowledge we obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide 

any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an 

opinion or provide any assurance. 

 

Carolina, Puerto Rico 

November 9, 2023 

 

 

 

 

Stamp number E550176 

of Puerto Rico CPA Society 
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Introduction  
 
The following management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the financial performance of the Public Buildings 
Authority (the Authority) provides an overview of the Authority’s activities for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2022.  Its 
purpose is to provide explanations and insights into the information provided in the basic financial statements and 
required supplementary information. This MD&A is intended to be read in conjunction with the Authority’s basic financial 
statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022 taken as a whole.  
 
Financial Highlights 
 

•  Debt from lines of credit ($137.4 million), bonds ($3,944.8 million), insurers ($157.1 million) and other 
miscellaneous settlements and write-offs ($1,078.4 million) for a total of $5,317.7 million were discharged on 
March 15, 2022 as part of the implementation of PBA's debt restructuring plan approved under PROMESA. 
 

• The Authority’s net position as of June 30, 2022 was $2.6 billion which represents an increase of $5.1 billion or 
204%, as compared with the prior fiscal year deficit of $2.5 billion.  
 

• For the year ended June 30, 2022, the Authority reported a decrease in rental and lease income of $.343 million 
as compared to the prior fiscal year.  All rent and lease receivable other than those amounts subsequently 
collected after June 30, 2022 are reserved as uncollectible.  
 

• The Authority’s operating loss increased from approximately $93.5 million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2021 
to an operating loss of $135.9 million for the year ended June 30, 2022. 
 

• The Authority’s non-operating revenues (expenses) decreased from ($156.2) million for the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2021 to ($136.3) million for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022. 
 

• As further discussed in Note 16 to the basic financial statement, on January 18, 2022, the Title III Court confirmed 
the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment.  On March 15, 2022 (the Effective Date), the Commonwealth and the 
Authority each emerged from their Title III cases. On the Effective Date, the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment 
was consummated and became effective.  As of the Effective Date, the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment 
eliminated PBA’s bonds and reduced the Commonwealth’s total funded debt obligations from $5,317,703,106 to 
zero, representing a total debt reduction of 100%. This debt reduction will also reduce the Commonwealth’s 
maximum annual debt service (inclusive of COFINA debt service), representing a total debt service reduction of 
100%.  This significant reduction in total debt and annual debt service payments provides a path for the 
Commonwealth’s future economic growth and alleviates the historical budgetary constraints that caused doubt 
as to whether the Oversight Board would approve the future financing needs of the Authority. 

 

• Notwithstanding the budgetary constraints and historical liquidity risks faced by the Commonwealth and the 
Authority, and other circumstances existing on June 30, 2022, based on subsequent events that remedied the 
Commonwealth’s financial condition and addressed its liabilities, management does not believe there is 
substantial doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue as a going concern as of the date of these basic financial 
statements. 
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Overview of the Basic Financial Statements 
The Authority’s basic financial statements consist of: MD&A, Basic Financial Statements, Notes to Basic Financial 
Statements, Required Supplementary Information and Other Supplementary Information. 
 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
 
This MD&A provides an analysis to assist the reader in focusing on significant financial issues and activities and to identify 
any significant changes in financial position. It is intended to serve as an introduction to the Authority’s basic financial 
statements.  
 
Basic Financial Statements 
 
Statement of Net Position - This statement presents financial information on the Authority’s assets, deferred outflows of 
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference reported as net position.  Over time, increases 
or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of the Authority is improving 
or deteriorating. Net position increases when revenues exceed expenses. Increases in assets, without a corresponding 
increase to liabilities, result in a net position increase, which also indicates an improved financial position.  
 
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Positions - This statement presents information showing how the 
Authority’s net position changed during the reporting period. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the 
underlying event occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this 
statement for some items that will only result in cash flows in future fiscal periods. 
 
Reclassifications – In fiscal year 2022, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 87, Leases (GASB Statement No. 87) 
which establishes a uniform approach for lease accounting based on the principle that leases are financings of the right 
to use an underlying asset. Refer to next section “Overview of the Basic Financial Statements-New Accounting Standards 
Adopted, for changes in the financial statements as required by GASB Statement No. 87. 
 
Statement of Cash Flows - This statement reports cash receipts, cash payments, and net changes in cash resulting from 
operations, non-capital financing activities, capital, and related financing activities, investing activities, and non-cash 
items. 
 
Notes to the Basic Financial Statements - The notes provide additional information that is essential for a full 
understanding of the data provided in the basic financial statements.  
 
Other Supplementary Information - In addition to the basic financial statements, accompanying notes, and the required 
supplementary information, various schedules present certain information concerning changes in bond sinking funds 
accounts and detail of operating rental revenues.  
 
Overall Financial Analysis - As noted above, net position over time may serve as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position. In this case we can observed a change in net position from a net deficit position as of June 30, 2021 of 
$2,472.6 million to a net position (in superavit) of $2,572.9 million as of June 30, 2022 representing an improvement in 
the net position by $5,045.5 million.  
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Statement of Net Position 

 
 

In fiscal year 2022, the Authority adopted GASB Statement No. 87, Leases which establishes a uniform approach for lease 
accounting based on the principle that leases are financings of the right to use an underlying asset. As of June 30, 2022, 
the Authority has recognized the following lease activities: the Authority recorded a lease receivable of $ .1 million and a 
deferred inflow of resources of $ .1 million.  
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Following is condensed financial information of the Authority’s statements of net position: 

 
 
 Current assets (in million) 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2022, current assets 
decreased by $1.8 million or 2% as compared to the prior 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2021. Within current assets, (i) cash 
as of June 30, 2022, was $41.6 million or 52% less than as of 
June 30, 2021, (ii) net rent receivable was $40.8 million more 
than as of June 30, 2021 and (iii) net other receivables is $.4 
million less than as of June 30, 2021. 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
Capital assets (in million)  
Building decreased by $92.6 
million as of June 30, 2022, 
compared to prior fiscal year, due 
mostly to depreciation expenses 
of $92.0 million.  
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Non-current assets 
(in million) 
During the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 
2022, non-current 
assets decreased by 
approximately $42.1 
million or 40%, as 
compared to the 
prior fiscal year 
ended June 30, 
2021.  No 
contributions were 
made by the 
Authority to the 

Sinking Fund during the reporting period as debt service payments were suspended because of the moratorium declared 
by the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and the Commonwealth’s and the Authority’s subsequent Title III cases, as further 
discussed in Note 16 to the basic financial statements.  
 

Current liabilities payable from 
unrestricted assets (in million) 
During the fiscal year ended June 
30, 2022, total current liabilities 
payable from unrestricted assets 
increased by approximately $1.6 
million or 3% as compared to the 
prior fiscal year. 
 
 

• Accounts payable as of 
June 30, 2022 decreased by 
approximately $2.1 million when 
compared with June 30, 2021.  

• Intergovernmental 
payables increased by 

approximately $.7 million and June 30, 2022 with respect to the prior year. 

• Voluntary termination benefits as of June 30, 2022 decreased by approximately $.2 million when compared with June 
30, 2021. 

• Compensated absences decreased by approximately $.2 million during the year ended June 30, 2022. 
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Current liabilities payable from 
restricted assets (in million) 
Current total liabilities due from 
restricted assets decreased by 
approximately $1,576.8 million in the 
year ended June 30, 2022.  This 
decrease is primarily due to the 
discharge of bankruptcy.  
 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
Non-current liabilities 
(in million)  
Non-current liabilities 
as of June 30, 2022 
decreased by 
approximately $3,676.8 
million, mostly due to 
the discharge of 

bankruptcy.  Non currents liabilities consist mainly of the Other post-employment benefits and accrued legal 
contingencies. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This Space Left Intentionally Blank  
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Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
 
Following is condensed financial information of the Authority’s statement of revenues, expenses and changes in net 
position:   
 

 
 
 
 
 

This Space Left Intentionally Blank 
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Operating revenues  
 
Operating revenues consist of rent charges to Commonwealth agencies, public corporations, and municipalities.  
Operating revenue decreased approximately $.343 million during the year ended June 30, 2022, as compared to the prior 
year. 
 
 
 

Expenses (in million) 
The following chart discloses the 
major components of operating 
expenses for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2022, and June 30, 2021. 
 
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 
2022, operating expenses increased 
by approximately $42.1 million, or 
19%, as compared to the prior fiscal 
year ended June 30, 2021. 
  

Notable changes in expenses during the year ended June 30, 2022, include: 

• Salaries and benefits increased by approximately $19.3 million, or 25%.  

• Utility expenses increased by approximately $4 million, or 31%.  

• The repairs and maintenance expenses increased by approximately $10.5 million, or 55%. 

• Insurance increased by approximately $1 million, or 7%. 

• Other expenses increased by approximately $3 million, or 98%. 
  

 
Non-operating Revenues and/or Expenses 
(in million) 
Non-operating revenue and expenses consist 
mostly of Operating grants from 
Commonwealth of Puerto Rico and Interest 
income from leases.  Net non-operating 
revenues/expenses increased approximately 
$20.2 million or 13% during the fiscal year 
ended June 30, 2022.  
 
During the years ended June 30, 2022, and 
June 30, 2021, appropriations from the 
Commonwealth to the Authority for the 
financing of operating expenses amounted to 
approximately $31.3 million and $19 million, 
respectively. 
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Other facts and conditions 
 
On June 28, 2021, PBA received 532 employees from the Electric Power Authority according to the mobility plan 
established in Act 120-2018, known as the Puerto Rico Power System Transformation Act.  This increase in our workforce 
represents wages spending and fringe benefits of over $20 million in fiscal year 2022 and subsequent fiscal years. 
 
On March 15, 2022 the Title III Joint Plan of Adjustment of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for the Employee’s 
Retirement System (ERS) and Public Building Authority (PBA) became effective.  Based on the agreement achieved in the 
adjustment plan, PBA reported an extraordinary gain of $5,317 million at the end of fiscal year 2022, as further discuss in 
Note 17. 
 
Contacting the Authority’s Financial Management 
 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Authority’s finances.  Questions concerning any of 
the information provided in this report or request for additional financial information should be addressed to the 
Comptroller’s Office, Public Building Authority, PO Box 41029, San Juan, PR  00940-1029. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements.  
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statements. 
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these basic financial statement.

Continued

Reconciliation of operating loss to net cash used in

operating activities:

Operating loss $ (135,927,821)     

Adjustments to reconcile operating loss to net cash

used in operating activities:

Depreciation 92,793,314         

Allowance for doubtful accounts 71,537,582         

Change in operating assets and liabilities:

Decrease in other current assets 466,738              

Decrease in other receivables, net 465,617              

Increase in rent receivable (112,414,470)     

Decrease in deferred outflows related to pension plans 12,269,591         

Decrease in deferred outflows related to post employment benefits 345,272              

Increase in amount due to contractors 733                      

Increase in accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,196,015           

Increase in accrued legal contingencies 1,223,353           

Decrease in compensated absences (1,550,560)          

Increase in rent collected in advance 249,479              
Decrease in their post-employment benefits (2,824,691)          

Decrease in total pension liability (12,222,463)       

Increase in deferred inflow related to leases 107,452              

Decrease in voluntary termination benefits (2,102,113)          

Increase in deferred inflows related to pension plans 1,535,345           

Net cash provided by operating activities $ (84,851,627)       

Supplemental schedule of noncash investing, capital and

financing activities

Loss on capital assets disposition $ 788,838              

Discharge of bonds and line of credits payable principal and

interest by plan of adjustment of debt under bankruptcy proceedings $ 5,317,703,106   

Loss on early cancellations on leases contracts $ 76,404,537         
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1. ORGANIZATION 

The Authority is a component unit of the Commonwealth, created by Legislature of the Commonwealth pursuant 
to Act No. 56 of June 19, 1958, as amended (the Enabling Act). The Authority (or PBA) designs, constructs, 
administers, and provides maintenance to office buildings, courts, warehouses, schools, health-care facilities, 
welfare facilities, shops and related facilities, the majority of which are leased to the Commonwealth’s 
departments, agencies, public corporations and instrumentalities and municipalities. The annual rent for each 
leased building has historically been based on the amounts necessary to cover the Authority’s payment of: 
 

i. Principal, interest and other amortization requirements of the notes and bonds issued to finance the 
applicable buildings; 

ii. Operating and maintenance expenses of the buildings, including a reasonable proportional share of 
administrative expenses, excluding depreciation; and 

iii. Cost of equipment replacement and extraordinary repairs. 
   

Component (i) is referred to as Debt Service Rent.  Components (ii) and (iii) are subject to periodic increases so 
that the Authority can recover the costs incurred. Amounts due from Commonwealth departments and 
governmental agencies may be subject to periodic adjustments based on the availability of funds at the 
Commonwealth level and the pending Commonwealth Title III case.   
 
The Enabling Act provides that the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth is pledged for the payment of rent 
under any lease agreement executed pursuant to the Enabling Act with any department of the Commonwealth. 
The Enabling Act also provides that the Department of Treasury of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico (Treasury 
Department) will make advances to the Authority for any unpaid portion of rent payable to the Authority by any 
agency or instrumentality of the Commonwealth that has entered into lease agreements with the Authority. Such 
advances are recorded as a reduction to account receivables because the reimbursement obligation belongs to 
the agency in accordance to the Enabling Act. This obligation was suspended pursuant the Puerto Rico Emergency 
Moratorium and Rehabilitation Act (Act No. 21 of 2016) and the Commonwealth’s subsequent Title III case, as 
described more fully in Note 16. 
 
As further discussed in Note 16 to the basic financial statement, the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment went 
effective on March 15, 2022. The court order confirming the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment provides that the 
PBA leases (including PBA leases with private entities) shall be deemed rejected effective upon the earliest to 
occur of: 

1.  June 30, 2022; 
2.  the date upon which such PBA lease expires in accordance with its terms; 
3. the date upon which PBA enters into a new or amended lease with respect to the leased property 
subject to such PBA Lease; 
4.  such other date of which PBA, as lessor, provides written notice to the counterparty to a PBA Lease; 
and; 
5.  the date upon which AAFAF, on behalf of the Commonwealth or any Commonwealth agency that is a 
lessee with respect to a PBA Lease, provides written notice to PBA that such PBA lease is rejected (the 
“Notice Date”).  
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Accordingly, each of the PBA leases will be deemed rejected no later than June 30, 2022, unless a new lease is entered 
before that time.  

From the Effective Date of the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment through the rejection/renegotiation date (i.e. 
June 30, 2022 or the Notice Date), with respect to any PBA lease between PBA, as lessor, and the Commonwealth 
or any Commonwealth agency, public corporation or instrumentality, as lessee, the monthly lease payments shall 
be limited to the lower of (i) the amount budgeted and approved pursuant to a certified fiscal plan and (ii) the 
monthly costs and expenses associated with the applicable leased property. 
 
Any past due accruals on PBA or any Commonwealth entity for Debt Service Rent under a PBA lease is deemed 
released under the Plan. 
 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
a. Basis of Accounting – The basic financial statements of the Authority have been prepared in conformity with 

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as applicable to governmental units. 
The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the accepted standard-setting body for establishing 
governmental accounting and financial reporting principles. 
 
The activities of the Authority are accounted for using the flow of economic resources measurement focus 
and the accrual basis of accounting. All assets, deferred outflows, liabilities, net position, revenues and 
expenses are accounted for through a single enterprise fund with revenues recorded when earned and 
expenses recorded as incurred. 
 

b. Use of Estimates – The preparation of basic financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of 
the basic financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported 
period. Actual results may differ from those estimates.  
 

c. Fair Value of Financial Instruments – The carrying amounts reported in the statements of net position for 
cash and cash equivalents and receivables approximate fair value due to their short-term duration. Amounts 
deposited in bond sinking funds and construction funds are carried at fair value. The carrying amount of bonds 
payable approximates fair value since interest rates on such debt approximates the rates currently available 
in the market for other debt with similar terms and remaining maturities.  

 
d. Cash and Cash Equivalents – Cash and cash equivalents include all highly liquid instruments with maturities 

of three months or less at the time of acquisition. If such instruments are included in restricted assets, they 
are considered cash equivalents for purposes of the statements of cash flows.  

 
e. Accounts Receivable Allowance for Uncollectible Accounts – The allowance for uncollectible accounts is an 

amount that management believes will be adequate to absorb possible losses on existing receivables, 
including debt service rentals and maintenance charges that may become uncollectible based on evaluations 
of the collectability of each balance. Because of uncertainties inherent in the estimation process, 
management’s estimate of losses in the receivables outstanding and the related allowance may change in the 
near term. 
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f. Other Assets – These represent tools, supplies, security deposits and building material on hand. 
 

g. Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents – Restricted assets represent the amounts deposited by the Authority 
to provide cash available in the related construction fund. When both restricted and unrestricted resources 
are available for specific use, it is the authority’s policy to use restricted resources first, then unrestricted 
resources as they are needed.  
 

h. Capital Assets – Capital assets are recorded at cost and segregated between non-depreciable, such as land 
and construction in progress, and depreciable assets, such as building and equipment. The construction cost 
includes indirect administrative costs and interest costs allocated during the construction period. Capital 
assets are assets with an individual cost of more than $100 and a useful life of five (5) years or more.  
 
Interest cost is capitalized as part of the historical cost of acquiring certain assets while the assets are readied 
for their intended use. Interest earned on unspent tax-exempt borrowings restricted for acquisition of 
qualifying assets is offset against interest costs to determine the net amount to be capitalized. 
 
Expenditures for major renewals and betterments that extend the useful life of the assets are capitalized and 
normal repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred. Depreciation is determined using the straight-
line method, over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:  

Buildings 50 Years 
Equipment and automobiles 5-10 years 
 

A capital asset is considered impaired when its service utility has declined significantly and unexpectedly. The 
Authority evaluates prominent events or changes in circumstances affecting capital assets to determine 
whether impairment of a capital asset has occurred. Such events or changes in circumstances that may be 
indicative of impairments include evidence of physical damage, enactment or approval of Acts or regulations 
or other changes in environmental factors, technological changes or evidence of obsolescence, changes in the 
manner or duration of use of capital asset, and construction stoppage, among others. 

 
i. Current Liabilities - These are short-term financial obligations that are due within one year or within a normal 

operating cycle of one year and typically settled using current assets, which are assets that are used up within 
one year.  Examples of current liabilities include accounts payable, accrued expenses, rent collected in 
advance, compensated absences, voluntary termination benefits and debt service payments due within the 
next 12 months. The Authority also included in current liabilities the bond principal and interest payments in 
default. 
 

j. Non-current Liabilities – Non-current liabilities are referred to as the long-term debts or financial obligations 
that are not due within twelve months. Examples of non-current liabilities include bonds payable, 
compensated absences, accrued legal contingencies, net pension liability, other post-employment benefits 
and voluntary termination benefits. 
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k. Compensated Absences – In response to a Fiscal Plan certified by the Oversight Board, Act 8-2017, Act for the 
Administration and Transformation of Human Resources of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, was enacted 
and extends its application to the employees of public corporations. Under this Act, employees begin to accrue 
vacation and sick leave at the rate of one-and-a-quarter days and one-and-a-half days per month, respectively, 
after working for three months, and the Act is retroactive to the start date of employment. Employees may 
accumulate and carry forward up to a maximum of 60 days vacations and 18 days sick leave. Upon termination 
of work, the accumulated amount of vacation days up to the maximum permissible by the Act is paid.  
 

l. Bond Premiums, Discounts, and Loss on Refunding – Bond premiums and discounts will be amortized as a 
Blended Component of interest expense over the lives of the related issue using the straight-line method in a 
manner that approximates the interest method.  The deferred loss on bond refunding will be presented as 
deferred outflows in the accompanying statement of net position and the related amortization will be 
presented as a Blended Component of interest expense. 

 
m. Related Parties or Transactions with Other Government Agency – The Technical Institute of Puerto Rico, a 

unit of the Puerto Rico Department of Education, is a related government agency, which received advances 
from the Authority to complete its facility in the city of Ponce. 

 
n. Due to Contractors – The Authority withholds from contractors a retainage until all construction issues have 

been settled satisfactorily.  Such issues may take years to resolve. The Authority lists as non-current liabilities 
amounts due to contractors where there is uncertainty about when construction issues will be resolved and 
settled. 

 
o. Claims and Judgments – The Authority accrues an estimate amount of the liability for claims and judgments 

on the accompanying statements of net position based on the Authority’s evaluation of the probability of an 
unfavorable outcome in the litigation of such claims and judgments. The Authority consults with legal counsel 
upon determining whether an unfavorable outcome is expected. Because of uncertainties inherent in the 
estimation process, management’s estimate of the liability for claims and judgments may change in the future.  
 

p. Pension Benefits –On August 23, 2017, the Governor of Puerto Rico signed into law Act No. 106 of 2017, 
known as the Law to Guarantee the Payment of Our Pensioners and Establish a New Plan of Defined 
Contributions for Public Servants (Act 106-2017), which completely transformed ERS and the 
Commonwealth’s other retirement systems effective as of July 1, 2017, by, among other things, (i) 
implementing a pay-as-you-go (PayGo) system in which direct payments to pension beneficiaries are made 
by the Commonwealth and reimbursed by individual government employers (including the Authority) 
through an applicable PayGo fee, and (ii) mandating the transfer of all of ERS’s existing retirement plans and 
benefits to a new defined contribution plan (the New Defined Contribution Plan) for existing active members 
and new employees hired after July 1, 2017.  The New Defined Contribution Plan and the individual 
beneficiary accounts established thereunder were officially launched on June 22, 2021. 
 
Funding Policy. The contribution requirements of plan members and Commonwealth direct payment 
amounts to beneficiaries are established and may be amended by the Commonwealth legislature under the 
review of the Oversight Board. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing 
requirements.  The PayGo fee to be paid by government employers (including the Authority) to reimburse 
the Commonwealth for direct beneficiary payments is established and imposed by the Puerto Rico Fiscal 
Agency and Financial Advisory Authority (AAFAF) under Act 106-2017. 
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Annual Pension Benefit Cost and Total Pension Liability. The Commonwealth’s annual other pension benefit 
expense and liability are calculated based on the annual required contribution of the participating employers 
(ARC); an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 73.  The 
ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal costs each 
year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess). 
 

q. Other Post-employment Benefits (OPEB) 
 

Plan Description. The Authority provides healthcare benefits to its retirees under two plans: one covered by 
the Authority and considered a single-employer plan, and the other through the post-employment benefit 
plan of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for retired participants of ERS, a multi-employer plan.  Since July 
1, 2017, both plans have operated under the PayGo system established under Act 106-2017.  
 
Prior to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Authority recognized post-employment benefit liability for 
the Authority’s plan.  Beginning with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2019, the Authority began including the 
prorated estimated liability for the New Defined Contribution Plan established under Act 106-2017, which 
was treated as a change in estimate of immaterial consequence as permitted by GASB Statement No. 75 and 
other accounting guidance. 
 
Funding Policy. The contribution requirements of plan members and Commonwealth direct payment 
amounts to beneficiaries are established and may be amended by the Commonwealth legislature under the 
review of the Oversight Board. The required contribution is based on projected pay-as-you-go financing 
requirements.  The PayGo fee to be paid by government employers (including the Authority) to reimburse 
the Commonwealth for direct beneficiary payments is established and imposed by AAFAF under Act 106-
2017. 
 
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation. The Commonwealth’s annual other post-employment benefit 
(OPEB) expense and liability are calculated based on the annual required contribution of the participating 
employers (ARC), an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement 
No. 75. The ARC represents a level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal 
costs each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial liabilities (or funding excess). 

 
r. Termination Benefits 

 
The Authority accounts for termination benefits in accordance with GASB Statement No. 47, Accounting for 
Termination Benefits. Pursuant to provisions of GASB Statement No. 47, in financial statements prepared on 
the accrual basis of accounting, employers should recognize a liability and expense for voluntary termination 
benefits (for example, early retirement incentives) when the offer is accepted, and the amount can be 
estimated. A liability and expense for involuntary termination benefits (for example, severance benefits) 
should be recognized in the basic financial statements when: (i) a plan of termination has been approved by 
those with the authority to commit the government to the plan, (ii) the plan has been communicated to the 
employees, and (iii) the amount can be estimated.  
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s. Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources – In addition to assets and liabilities, the Authority reports in 
separate sections deferred outflows/inflows of resources. This separate financial statement element—
deferred outflows/inflows of resources—represents a consumption of net position that applies to a future 
period(s) and thus is recognized as an outflow of resources (expense) until then. 
 

t. Net Position – The difference between assets and liabilities is presented as Net Position.  Components of net 
position are the following: 

 
1) Net investment in capital assets – Consists of Capital Assets, net of accumulated depreciation reduced by 

the outstanding balance of any bonds, mortgage notes, or other borrowings that are attributable to the 
acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. 

 
2) Restricted for other purposes – This restriction is imposed by the grantors and contributors. Given the 

Authority’s net deficit, no net position was reported as restricted for other purposes. 
 

3) Unrestricted – This component of net position consists of net position that does not meet the definition 
of “restricted” or “net investment in capital assets.” . 

 
u. Operating Revenues and Expenses – The Authority distinguishes operating revenues and expenses from non-

operating items.   
 

v. Non-operating Revenues include Federal grants and other grants from the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, 
which are subject to appropriations contingent on the availability of funds from the Commonwealth and 
legislative approval.  

 
w. Risk Financing – The Authority carries commercial insurance to cover casualty, theft, claim and other loss. 

The current insurance policies have not been cancelled or terminated. Coverage is from July 1st to June 30th 
of each fiscal year.  The Authority has not settled any claims in excess of its insurance coverage during the 
past three years.  The Authority also pays premiums for workers compensation insurance to another 
component unit of the Commonwealth.  

 

x. Rental Revenue and Receivable – All rental revenues are from charges to the Commonwealth and its 
component units and related rental receivable that are due by such entities. 
 
The Authority lease revenues are billed on a monthly basis.  Rental revenues are recognized as earned over 
the appropriate time period under GASB 87 provisions.  

 
Act No. 97, Article 15, of May 15, 2006, establishes that any rent to be paid to the Authority during any fiscal 
year by any Commonwealth department, agency, or public corporation under the conditions of a rental 
contract in accordance with the dispositions of Act No. 56 of June 19, 1958, as amended, the Commonwealth 
will advance to the Authority the amount not paid.  This Act requires the Secretary of Treasury Department 
to make an advance of any available funds committed by the full faith and credit of the Commonwealth.  In 
case the rent to be paid to the Authority by any municipality, this Act requires the Municipal Revenue 
Collection Center to make payments to the Authority from any property tax collection.  There were no 
advances from the Commonwealth and the Revenue Collection Center during the years ended June 30, 2022, 
and June 30, 2021.  



PUBLIC BUILDINGS AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

 

23 
 

y. Contributions – The Commonwealth, from time to time, makes non-operating contributions to the Authority.  
Capital grants are restricted to financing investment in capital assets. 

z. New Accounting Standard Adopted 
 

GASB Statement No. 87, Leases (GASB Statement No. 87). 
 

Effective July 1, 2021, the Authority changed its method of accounting for leases with the implementation of 
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 87, Leases. GASB Statement No. 87 
increases the usefulness of governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets 
and liabilities for leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of 
resources or outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. It establishes a single 
model for lease accounting based on the foundational principle that leases are financings of the right to use 
an underlying asset. Under this Statement, a lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an intangible 
right-to-use lease asset, and a lessor is required to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred inflow of 
resources, thereby enhancing the relevance and consistency of information about governments’ leasing 
activities. 
 
At the commencement of a lease, the Authority initially measures the lease receivable at the present value 
of payments expected to be received during the lease term. Subsequently, the lease receivables are reduced 
by the principal portion of lease payments received. The deferred inflow of resources for deferred lease 
receipts is initially measured as the initial amount of the lease receivable. 

 
Lessor Activity 

As a lessor, the Authority leases its buildings, the majority of which are leased to the Commonwealth’s 
departments, agencies, public corporations and instrumentalities and municipalities. Effective July 1, 2021, 
the Authority implemented GASB 87 “Leases”. During the year, all of the Authority’s leases were long-term 
as defined in GASB 87 and accordingly the Authority determined a Lease Receivable and a Deferred Inflow of 
Resources amounting to $4,173,223,276. On January 18, 2022, pursuant to the confirmation of the Eighth 
Amended Title III Joint Plan of Adjustment of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, the Employees Retirement 
System of the Government of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, and the Public Buildings Authority, the 
Authority received a mandate to terminate its leases at a date not later than June 30, 2022.  Accordingly, the 
Authority registered a loss on contract termination amounting to $76,404,537. 
 
On June 30, 2022, the Authority had minimum principal and interest lease receivable payment requirements, 

on contracts that were not cancelled as per above, in its lessor activity as follows: 
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aa. Future Adoption of Accounting Standards  
 
The GASB has issued the following accounting standards that have effective dates after June 30, 2022:  

 
GASB Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations.  The requirements of this Statement are effective for 
reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2021 (As postponed by GASB Statement No. 95). 
 
GASB Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2021. (As postponed by GASB Statement No. 95). 
 
GASB Statement No. 94, Public-Private and Public-Public Partnerships and Availability Payment 
Arrangements. The requirements of this Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 
15, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. 
 
GASB Statement No. 96, Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements. The requirements of this 
Statement are effective for reporting periods beginning after June 15, 2022. Earlier application is encouraged. 
 
GASB Statement No. 99, Omnibus 2022, establishes or amends accounting and financial reporting 
requirements for specific issues related to financial guarantees, derivative instruments, leases, public-public 
and public-private partnerships (PPPs), subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs), 
the transition from the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR), the Supplemental Nutrition Assistance 
Program (SNAP) (formerly, food stamps), nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future revenues, the focus 
of government-wide financial statements, and terminology. The requirements of this Statement apply to the 
financial statements of all state and local governments.  The requirements related to extension of the use of 
LIBOR, accounting for SNAP distributions, disclosures of nonmonetary transactions, pledges of future 
revenues by pledging governments, clarification of certain provisions in Statement 34, as amended, and 
terminology updates related to Statement 53 and Statement 63 are effective upon issuance.  The 
requirements related to leases, PPPs, and SBITAs are effective for fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2022, 
and all reporting periods thereafter.  The requirements related to financial guarantees and the classification 
and reporting of derivative instruments within the scope of Statement 53 are effective for fiscal years 
beginning after June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. 
 
GASB Statement No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections, establishes accounting and financial 
reporting requirements for (a) accounting changes and (b) the correction of an error in previously issued 
financial statements (error correction). The requirements of this Statement do not apply to the initial 
application of U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) established by the GASB as a financial 
reporting framework in circumstances in which a government is asserting for the first time that its financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP established by the GASB. The requirements of this 
Statement apply to the financial statements of all state and local governments.  The requirements of this 
Statement are effective for accounting changes and error corrections made in fiscal years beginning after 
June 15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter. Earlier application is encouraged. 
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GASB Statement No. 101, Compensated Absences.  The objective of this statement is to better meet the 
information needs of financial statement users by updating the recognition and measurement guidance for 
compensated absences.  The requirements of this statement are effective for fiscal year beginning after 
December15, 2023, and all reporting periods thereafter.  Earlier applications are encouraged. 
 
The Authority is evaluating the impact that these standards may have on its future financial statements.  
 
  

3. PROMESA AND OTHER LEGISLATION RELATED TO DEBT RESTRUCTURING  
 

The Commonwealth and many of its component units, including the Authority have suffered an economic and 
fiscal crisis, which has caused, among other things, the initiation of financial measures directed to reinstate fiscal 
and financial stability, including a number of Commonwealth and federal laws that have been passed in recent 
years. On June 30, 2016, the U.S. Congress enacted PROMESA to address these problems. During the fiscal years 
subsequent to June 30, 2016, the Commonwealth and other governmental entities including the Authority, as 
well as COFINA, PRHTA, ERS, and PREPA initiated PROMESA proceedings at the request of the Governor to 
restructure or adjust their existing debt.  Following are the most relevant Commonwealth and federal legislation 
enacted to address the fiscal crisis and to initiate the economic recovery: 

 
(a) Fiscal Measures Before PROMESA 

Puerto Rico Emergency Moratorium and Financial Rehabilitation Act, Financial Emergency and Fiscal 
Responsibility of Puerto Rico Act and Related Executive Orders 
On April 6, 2016, the Commonwealth enacted Act No. 21 of 2016, known as the Puerto Rico Emergency 
Moratorium and Financial Rehabilitation Act (the Moratorium Act). Pursuant to the Moratorium Act, the 
Governor issued a series of executive orders declaring an emergency period, a moratorium and various 
other measures with respect to certain obligations of the Commonwealth and several of its 
instrumentalities. Pursuant to these executive orders, certain Commonwealth entities have either: (i) not 
made debt service payments, (ii) made debt service payments with funds on deposit with the trustees of 
their bonds, and/or (iii) not received or transferred certain revenues. Such executive orders also placed 
significant restrictions on the disbursement of funds deposited at GDB and suspended the disbursement 
of loans by GDB. 
 
The implementation of the Moratorium Act and its related executive orders is the subject of ongoing 
litigation. Upon the enactment of PROMESA on June 30, 2016, the Title IV Stay (discussed below) applied 
to stay this litigation until the Title IV Stay expired on May 1, 2017. Since the commencement of the 
Commonwealth’s Title III case on May 3, 2017, the automatic stay under Title III of PROMESA has applied 
to continue the stay of this litigation and prevent debt service payments to bondholders, including 
bondholders of the Authority. 
 

(b) PROMESA and Other Puerto Rico Legislation 
(i) PROMESA 

In general terms, PROMESA seeks to provide the Commonwealth with fiscal and economic discipline 
through, among other things: (i) the establishment of the Oversight Board, whose responsibilities include 
the certification of fiscal plans and budgets for the Commonwealth and its related entities; (ii) a temporary 
stay of all creditor lawsuits under Title IV of PROMESA; and (iii) two alternative methods to adjust 
unsustainable debt: (a) a voluntary debt modification process under Title VI of PROMESA, which 
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establishes a largely out of court debt restructuring process through which modifications to financial debt 
can be accepted by a supermajority of creditors; and (b) a quasi bankruptcy proceeding under Title III of 
PROMESA, which establishes an in-court debt restructuring process substantially based upon incorporated 
provisions of Title 11 of the United States Code (U.S. Bankruptcy Code). Each of these elements are divided 
among PROMESA’s seven titles, as briefly discussed below. 
 
a. Title I – Establishment of Oversight Board and Administrative Matters 

Upon PROMESA’s enactment, the Oversight Board was established for Puerto Rico. As stated in 
PROMESA, “the purpose of the Oversight Board is to provide a method for a covered territory to 
achieve fiscal responsibility and access to the capital markets.” On August 31, 2016, the President of 
the United States announced the appointment of the Oversight Board members. Each Oversight Board 
member is required to have “knowledge and expertise in finance, municipal bond markets, 
management, law, or the organization or operation of business or government.” The Oversight Board 
was “created as an entity within the territorial government for which it was established” and is 
expressly not an entity of the federal government, but it was also established to act independently 
from the Commonwealth government, such that neither the Governor nor the Legislature may 
“(1) exercise any control, supervision, oversight, or review over the Oversight Board or its activities; 
or (2) enact, implement, or enforce any statute, resolution, policy, or rule that would impair or defeat 
the purposes of [PROMESA], as determined by the Oversight Board.” 
 

b. Title II – Fiscal Plan and Budget Certification Process and Compliance 
Title II sets forth the requirements for proposing and certifying fiscal plans and budgets for the 
Commonwealth and its instrumentalities. “Each fiscal plan serves as the cornerstone for structural 
reforms the Oversight Board deems necessary to ensure the territory, or instrumentality, will be on a 
path towards fiscal responsibility and access to capital markets.” 
 
Only after the Oversight Board has certified a fiscal plan may the Governor submit a fiscal year 
Commonwealth budget and fiscal year budgets for certain Commonwealth instrumentalities (as 
approved by the Oversight Board) to the Legislature. 
 
In furtherance of the foregoing duties, PROMESA contains a provision that grants the Oversight Board 
powers to monitor compliance with certified fiscal plans and budgets and undertake certain actions, 
including spending reductions and the submission of recommended actions to the Governor that 
promote budgetary compliance. Please refer to the language of PROMESA for a complete description 
of the Oversight Board’s powers related to fiscal plan and budgetary compliance. 
 

c. Title III – In-Court Restructuring Process 
Title III of PROMESA establishes an in-court process for restructuring the debts of Puerto Rico and 
other United States territories that is modeled after the process under Chapter 9 of the 
U.S. Bankruptcy Code. 
 
The Oversight Board has sole authority to file a voluntary petition seeking protection under Title III of 
PROMESA, subject to the prerequisites therein. 
 
In a Title III case, the Oversight Board acts as the debtor’s representative and is authorized to take any 
actions necessary to prosecute the Title III case. Immediately upon filing the Title III petition, 
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Bankruptcy Code section 362 (which is incorporated into Title III cases under PROMESA) applies to 
automatically stay substantially all litigation against the debtor (the Title III Stay). A Title III case 
culminates in the confirmation of a plan of adjustment of the debts of the debtor. The Oversight Board 
has the exclusive authority to file and modify a plan of adjustment prior to confirmation. 
 

d. Title IV – Temporary Stay of Litigation, Government Reporting, and Other Miscellaneous Provisions 
Title IV of PROMESA contains several miscellaneous provisions, including a temporary stay of litigation 
related to “Liability Claims,” relief from certain wage and hour laws, the establishment of a 
Congressional Task Force on Economic Growth in Puerto Rico (the Task Force), the requirement that 
the Comptroller General of the United States submit two reports to Congress regarding the public 
debt levels of the U.S. territories, and expansion of the federal government’s small business HUBZone 
program in Puerto Rico. Pursuant to PROMESA section 405, the enactment of PROMESA immediately 
and automatically imposed a temporary stay (the Title IV Stay) from June 30, 2016 (the date of 
PROMESA’s enactment) through February 15, 2017, of all “Liability Claim” litigation commenced 
against the Commonwealth and its instrumentalities after December 18, 2015. A “Liability Claim” is 
defined as any right to payment or equitable remedy for breach of performance related to “a bond, 
loan, letter of credit, other borrowing title, obligation of insurance, or other financial indebtedness for 
borrowed money, including rights, entitlements, or obligations whether such rights entitlements, or 
obligations arise from contract, statute, or any other source of law related [thereto]” for which the 
Commonwealth or one of its instrumentalities was the issuer, obligor, or guarantor and such liabilities 
were incurred prior to June 30, 2016. The Title IV Stay was subject to a one-time 75-day extension by 
the Oversight Board or a one-time 60-day extension by the United States District Court. On January 28, 
2017, the Oversight Board extended the Title IV Stay by 75 days to May 1, 2017, at which time the 
Title IV Stay expired. Title IV of PROMESA also required several federal government reports. First, 
PROMESA established the Task Force within the legislative branch of the U.S. federal government. The 
Task Force submitted its report to Congress on December 20, 2016. Second, PROMESA required the 
U.S. Comptroller General, through the Government Accountability Office (GAO), to submit a report to 
the House and Senate by December 30, 2017, regarding: (i) the conditions that led to Puerto Rico’s 
current level of debt; (ii) how government actions improved or impaired its financial condition; and 
(iii) recommendations on new fiscal actions or policies that the Commonwealth could adopt. The GAO 
published this report on May 9, 2018. Third, PROMESA required the U.S. Comptroller General, through 
the GAO, to submit to Congress by June 30, 2017, a report on public debt of the U.S. territories. In 
addition to its initial report, the GAO must submit to Congress updated reports on the public debt at 
least once every two years. The GAO published its initial report on October 2, 2017. On June 28, 2019, 
the GAO published its latest biannual report on the public debt of the U.S. territories. 
 

e. Title V – Infrastructure Revitalization 
Title V of PROMESA establishes the position of Revitalization Coordinator under the Oversight Board 
and provides a framework for infrastructure revitalization through an expedited permitting process 
for “critical projects” as identified by the Revitalization Coordinator. 
 

f. Title VI – Consensual, Out-of-Court Debt Modification Process 
Title VI of PROMESA establishes an out-of-court process for modifying Puerto Rico’s debts. Under 
PROMESA section 601(d), the Oversight Board is authorized to establish “pools” of bonds issued by 
each Puerto Rico government-related issuer based upon relative priorities. After establishing the 
pools, the government issuer or any bondholder or bondholder group may propose a modification to 
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one or more series of the government issuer’s bonds. If a voluntary agreement exists, the Oversight 
Board must issue a certification and execute a number of additional processes in order to qualify the 
modification. Finally, the United States District Court for the District of Puerto Rico must enter an 
order approving the Qualifying Modification and vesting in the issuer all property free and clear of 
claims in respect of any bonds. 
 

g. Title VII – Sense of Congress 
Title VII of PROMESA sets forth the sense of Congress that “any durable solution for Puerto Rico’s fiscal 
and economic crisis should include permanent, pro-growth fiscal reforms that feature, among other 
elements, a free flow of capital between territories of the United States and the rest of the United 
States.” 
 

(ii) Puerto Rico Legislation and Other Fiscal Measures 
Act No. 2-2017, the Puerto Rico Fiscal Agency and Financial Advisory Authority Act, was enacted to expand 
AAFAF’s powers and authority (as initially established under the Moratorium Act) so that AAFAF has the 
sole responsibility to negotiate, restructure, and reach agreements with creditors on all or part of the 
public debt or any other debt issued by any Commonwealth entity. AAFAF is also responsible for the 
collaboration, communication, and cooperation efforts between the Commonwealth and the Oversight 
Board under PROMESA. In addition, Act No. 2-2017 established AAFAF as the Commonwealth entity 
responsible for carrying out the roles inherited from the GDB along with additional duties and powers, 
which include, among other things: (i) oversight of the Commonwealth budget; (ii) an administrative 
presence on every board or committee where the GDB president is currently a member; (iii) authority to 
conduct audits and investigations; and (iv) authority to freeze budgetary items, appoint trustees, 
redistribute human resources, and change procedures. 
 
Act No. 3-2017, the Fiscal Crisis Management Act, was enacted to extend most of the fiscal measures that 
had been adopted under Act No. 66-2014 through July 1, 2021, including a 10-year extension of the excise 
tax on acquisitions by foreign corporations under Act No. 154-2010. 
 
Act No. 5-2017, the Puerto Rico Fiscal Responsibility and Financial Emergency Act, authorized the 
Commonwealth to segregate funds that would eventually be used to fund the payment of public debt. Act 
No. 5-2017 states that the Governor may pay debt service as long as the Commonwealth is able to 
continue to fund essential services, that is, those related to the health, safety, and well-being of the people 
of Puerto Rico, including providing for their education and assistance to residents. Act No. 5-2017 
continued to declare the Commonwealth to be in a state of emergency and increased the Governor’s 
powers to manage the Commonwealth’s finances. The emergency period under Act No. 5-2017 was set to 
expire on May 1, 2017, to coincide with the expiration of the Title IV Stay (as discussed above), unless 
extended by an additional three months by executive order. On April 30, 2017, the Governor issued 
executive order OE-2017-031, which extended the Act No. 5-2017 emergency period to August 1, 2017.  
 
On July 19, 2017, the Legislature enacted Act No. 46-2017, which further extended the Act No. 5-2017 
emergency period through December 31, 2017. Act No. 46-2017 allowed the Governor to sign executive 
orders to extend the emergency period for successive periods of six months as long as the Oversight Board 
remains established for Puerto Rico under PROMESA. On June 27, 2019, the Governor issued executive 
order EO-2019-030 extending the emergency period until December 31, 2019. On December 31, 2019, the 
Governor issued executive order EO-2019-066 extending the emergency period until June 30, 2020. 
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Act No. 106-2017, the Act to Guarantee the Payment to Our Pensioners and Establish a New Plan for 
Defined Contributions for Public Servants, reformed the Commonwealth’s pensions by replacing the 
governing boards of the Retirement Systems with a single Retirement Board of the Commonwealth of 
Puerto Rico (Retirement Board) and established a separate “Account for the Payment of Accrued 
Pensions” to implement a PayGo method by which the Commonwealth’s General Fund makes direct 
pension payments to government pensioners and then gets reimbursed for those payments by the 
applicable employers (including the Authority) through the PayGo fee.  Act 106-2017 created the legal 
framework so that the Commonwealth can make payments to pensioners through the Pay Go system. 
 
Act No. 53-2021, the Law to End the Bankruptcy of Puerto Rico, was enacted on October 26, 2021, to, 
among other things, approve the issuance of the New GO Bonds and CVIs (each as defined and discussed 
in Note 16) necessary to implement the restructuring transactions contemplated in the Seventh Amended 
Plan. In addition to approving the Commonwealth’s restructuring transactions, Act 53 conditioned the 
effectiveness of the Government’s approval on the preservation of all accrued pension benefits owed to 
current public pension participants, which required the elimination of the pension cuts proposed in the 
Seventh Amended Plan.  In response to Act 53, the Oversight Board modified the Seventh Amended Plan 
and proposed the Eighth Amended Plan with zero pension cuts to accrued pension benefits.  The Title III 
Court confirmed that version of the plan on January 18, 2022, and it was effective on March 15, 2022. 

 
(c) PROMESA Title III Cases 

Overview of Title III Cases 
 

On May 1, 2017, the Title IV Stay expired, permitting litigation brought by bondholders and other 
creditors against the Commonwealth and its instrumentalities to resume and new matters to be 
initiated.  
 
On May 3, 2017, the Oversight Board, at the request of the Governor, commenced a Title III case for 
the Commonwealth by filing a petition for relief under Title III of PROMESA in the United States District 
Court for the District of Puerto Rico (the Title III Court).  
 
On May 5, 2017, the Oversight Board, at the request of the Governor, commenced a Title III case for 
COFINA by filing a similar petition for relief under Title III of PROMESA in the Title III Court. 
 
On May 21, 2017, the Oversight Board, at the request of the Governor, commenced Title III cases for 
PRHTA and ERS by filing similar petitions for relief under Title III of PROMESA in the Title III Court.  
On July 3, 2017, the Oversight Board, at the request of the Governor, commenced a Title III case for 
PREPA by filing a similar petition for relief under Title III of PROMESA in the Title III Court.  
 
On September 27, 2019, the Oversight Board, at the request of the Governor, commenced a Title III 
case for the Authority by filing a similar petition for relief under Title III of PROMESA in the Title III 
Court.  
 
All the foregoing Title III cases have been consolidated for procedural purposes only and are being 
jointly administered under Case No. 17-3283-LTS in the Title III Court. The Title III cases commenced 
in part due to the May 1, 2017, expiration of the Title IV Stay. Title III of PROMESA incorporates the 
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automatic stay provisions of Bankruptcy Code section 362 and 922, which are made applicable to the 
Title III cases pursuant to PROMESA section 301(a). Accordingly, upon the filing of the Title III cases, 
the Title III Stay immediately went into effect to stay creditor litigation. All claims against any Title III 
debtor that arose prior to the filing of the debtor’s Title III case (whether or not discussed herein) may 
be subject to the laws governing Title III. 

 
  

4. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
 

The Commonwealth requires that public funds deposited in commercial banks in Puerto Rico must be fully 
collateralized for the amount deposited in excess of federal depository insurance. Cash and cash equivalents on 
June 30, 2022, consisted of the following: 
…… 

 
 

Unrestricted cash and cash equivalents are deposited in two local banks.  Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
deposited with local bank consist of: 
 
a. Bond sinking funds - Bond sinking funds consist of monies deposited under Resolution No. 468 and consist of 

two separate accounts: “Bond Service Account” and a “Redemption Account.” Revenues have historically been 
deposited in fiscal agent accounts in the following order: 

 
1) To the Bond Service Account, in such amount as may be required to make the amount equal to the amount 

of interest then due and payable and the interest, which will become due and payable within the next 
ensuing six month, of all bonds of each series then outstanding and the principal of all serial bonds, if any, 
which will become payable within the next ensuing twelve months; and 

 
2) To the Redemption Account, in such amount as may be required to make the amount so deposited in the 

current fiscal year equal to the amortization requirements, if any, for such fiscal year for the term bonds 
of each series then outstanding, plus the premium, if any, which would be payable on a like principal 
amount of bonds if such principal amounts of bonds should be redeemed on the next redemption date 
from monies in their Bond Sinking Fund.  
Bond Resolution No. 468 also requires funds to be invested and reinvested in government obligation, 
bankers’ acceptances, certificates, or time deposits of any Commonwealth approved bank or national 
banking association, repurchase or reverse repurchase agreements or any other investment that is rated 
in one of the three highest rating categories. 

Unrestricted Restricted Total

Cash:

Commercial bank in Puerto Rico $ 37,460,159       $ 64,037,935       $ 101,498,094     

Cash equivalent:

Cerificates of deposits 1,500,926         -                     1,500,926         

Total cash and equivalents deposited in comercial banks $ 38,961,085       $ 64,037,935       $ 102,999,020     

Unrestricted Restricted Total

Current portion $ 38,961,085       $ -                     $ 38,961,085       

Noncurrent portion -                     64,037,935       64,037,935       

Total $ 38,961,085       $ 64,037,935       $ 102,999,020     
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Because there is no bond payable outstanding balance as of June 30, there no money deposit in the Bond 
Sinking Fund at end of year. 
 

b. Construction Funds – These funds are used for the payment of all or any part of the remaining cost of the 
initial facilities, or for payment of all or any part of the cost to the Authority of any additional facilities or 
improvements, in accordance with the Bonds resolutions, insurances proceeds and state or federal grants.        
 

c. Custodial Credit Risk - Custodial credit risk related to deposits is the risk that in the event of a financial 
institution’s failure, the Authority’s deposits might not be recovered. The Authority are authorized to deposit 
only in institutions approved by the Department of the Treasury of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico 
(“Treasury”), and such deposits are maintained in separate bank accounts in the name of the Authority. Such 
authorized depositories collateralize the amount deposited in excess of the federal depository insurance of 
$250,000 with securities that are pledged with the Department of the Treasury. There is no formal policy for 
custodial credit risk for cash accounts opened with commercial banks outside of Puerto Rico. 
 
As of June 30, 2022, the Authority’s cash deposited in the banks amounted to approximately $103 million. 

 
5. RENT RECEIVABLE  
 

This balance represents the amount due primarily from Commonwealth agencies and public corporations in 
accordance with the corresponding lease agreements and adjusted for the estimate of uncollectible amounts due 
to the current financial condition of the Commonwealth.  
 
Total rent receivable amount $239.7 million which includes approximately $42.8 million collected near after June 
30, 2022.  All other receivables have been reserved as uncollectible.  
 
Although the Authority implemented GASB 87 during the fiscal year, as a result of the implementation of the 
bankruptcy Plan of Adjustment on March 15, 2022, almost all lease agreements were cancelled, and new short-
term agreements were prepared.  For this reason, the rent receivable is mostly related to short-term leases.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

This Space Left Intentionally Blank 
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6. CAPITAL ASSETS 

 Capital assets activity for the years ended June 30, 2022, was as follows: 
 

 
 

7. INTERGOVERNMENTAL PAYABLES  
 

 Intergovernmental payables as of June 30, 2022, consist of the following: 
 

 
 

 
 

 Beginning Balance 

June 30, 2021  Increase  Decrease 

 Ending Balance 

June 30, 2022 

Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 130,911,907           $ -                      $ -                      $ 130,911,907        

Construction in progress 14,000                     551,418             -                      565,418               

Total capital assets not being depreciated 130,925,907           551,418             -                      131,477,325        

Capital assets being depreciated:

Buildings 4,743,154,072        -                      (4,785,616)         4,738,368,456    

Equipment and vehicles 14,884,629             2,451,056          (1,900,072)         15,435,613          

Total capital assets being depreciated 4,758,038,701        2,451,056          (6,685,688)         4,753,804,069    

Less accumulated depreciation:

Buildings (1,875,630,321)      (91,991,101)       4,161,754           (1,963,459,668)   

Equipment and vehicles (11,841,220)            (802,213)            1,735,096           (10,908,337)        

Total accumulated depreciation (1,887,471,541)      (92,793,314)       5,896,850           (1,974,368,005)   

Capital assets being depreciated, net 2,870,567,160        (90,342,258)       (788,838)             2,779,436,064    

Capital assets, net $ 3,001,493,067        $ (89,790,840)       $ (788,838)             $ 2,910,913,389    
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8. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES  

 Long-term liabilities as of June 30, 2022 consist of: 

 
 

a. Compensated absences – Employees earn annual vacation leave at the rate of 15 days per year up to a 
maximum permissible accumulation of 30 days for union employees and 75 days for management personnel. 
Employees accumulate sick leave at the rate of 18 days per year. The Authority records as a liability and as 
expense the vested accumulated vacation benefits accrued to employees. The cost of vacation expected to be 
paid in the next twelve months is classified as current and accrued liabilities, while amounts expected to be 
paid after twelve months are classified as non-current liabilities. 

b. Accrued Legal Contingencies – This amount represents the Authority’s estimates of possible legal and 
contractual settlements arising from normal litigation procedures. The estimated amount was based on the 
corresponding number of legal cases currently underway and based on the advice and consent of the 
Authority’s legal division and external legal advisors. The actual amounts required to settle such cases may be 
materially different from the amount accrued. 

c.   Other Post-Employment Benefits – The Authority records a liability for its retirement health care benefits 
following GASB Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits other than 
Pensions. It includes the Authority’s proportionate share of the Commonwealth Healthcare Benefit Plan to 
Retirees, considered a multi-employer plan, and the Authority’s plans covered by collective bargaining 
agreements (CBA) and considered a single-employer plan.  Both plans operate on a pay-as-you-go basis as 
further described in Note 12 to the basic financial statements.  

d.    Voluntary Termination Benefits – This amount represents the Authority’s liability related to a program that 
provides benefits for early retirement or economic incentives for voluntary employment termination to 
certain eligible employees as further explained in Note 13 to the basic financial statements. 

e. Total Pension Liability – This amount represents the proportionate share of the difference between the total 
amount due to retirees and the actual amount of money in the Puerto Rico Employees Retirement System to 
make those payments.  
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9. DUE TO CONTRACTORS  
 
This amount represents the remaining balance due to contractors for projects under construction. Normally, the 
contractors submit progress billings for projects in progress and the Authority pays these invoices, except for the 
retainage portion. This withholding is used as a guarantee that the contractor will complete the project in 
accordance with contract requirements. The retainage is typically paid upon completion and acceptance of the 
projects, as determined by the Authority’s engineers. 

 

11.   RETIREMENT PLANS 
 

1. Employee’s Retirement System of the Government of Puerto Rico and its Instrumentalities  
 

A. Plan Description 
 

General - Prior to July 1, 2017, PBA was a participating employer in a retirement plan administered through a 
pension trust known as the Employee’s Retirement System of the Government of Puerto Rico and its 
Instrumentalities (ERS). The ERS covered all regular full-time public employees working for the executive and 
legislative branches of the Commonwealth and the municipalities of Puerto Rico (including mayors); the 
firefighters and police of Puerto Rico and employees of certain public corporations not having their own 
retirement systems. During that period, ERS operated a pension plan under three benefits structures:  

 
▪ a cost-sharing multiple employer’s defined benefit plan under Act No. 447 of 1951 (Act 447) effective on 

January 1, 1952 for members hired up to March 31, 1990, and Act No. 1 of 1990 (Act 1) for members hired on 
or after April 1, 1990 and ending on or before December 31, 1999;  

 
▪ a defined contribution plan known as System 2000 under Act No. 305 of 1999 (Act 305) for members hired 

from January 1, 2000 up to June 3, 2013;  
 

▪ a defined contribution hybrid plan under Act No. 3 of 2013 (Act 3), for members hired after July 1, 2013, the 
Act’s effective date. Furthermore, Act 3 moves all participants under the defined benefit pen``sion plans (Act 
447 and Act 1) and the defined contribution plan (System 2000) to the new defined contribution hybrid plan.  

 
On September 30, 2016, ERS was designated by the Oversight Board as a “covered instrumentality” pursuant to 
the provisions of PROMESA. As a result of the ERS’s severe fiscal and liquidity crisis, on May 21, 2017 the Oversight 
Board filed a voluntary petition under Title III of PROMESA in the United States District Court for the District of 
Puerto Rico (the “District Court”). 
 
Benefit terms - the following is a general description of the benefit terms under the different benefit structures: 

 
1) Service Retirement Eligibility Requirements 

 
a) Eligibility for Act No. 447-1951 Members: Act No. 447-1951 members who were eligible to retire as of 

June 30, 2013, would continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, Act No. 447-1951 
members could retire upon (1) attainment of age 55 with 25 years of credited service; (2) attainment of 
age 58 with 10 years of credited service; (3) any age with 30 years of credited service; (4) for Public 
Officers in High Risk Positions (the Commonwealth Police and Firefighter Corps, the Municipal Police and 
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Firefighter Corps and the Custody Office Corps), attainment of age 50 with 25 years of credited service; 
and (5) for Mayors of municipalities, attainment of age 50 with 8 years of credited service as a Mayor. In 
addition, Act No. 447-1951 members who would attain 30 years of credited service by December 31, 
2013, would be eligible to retire at any time. 

 
Act No. 447-1951 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013, and did not attain 30 
years of credited service by December 31, 2013, are eligible to retire upon attainment of the retirement 
eligibility age shown in the table below with 10 years of credited service. 
 

 
 

In addition to the requirements in the table above, Act No. 447-1951 Public Officers in High-Risk Positions 
who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013 and did not attain 30 years of credited service by 
December 31, 2013, are eligible to retire directly from active service upon the attainment of age 55 with 
30 years of credited service. 
 

b) Eligibility for Act No. 1-1990 Members: Act No. 1-1990 members who were eligible to retire as of June 
30, 2013, continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, Act No. 1-1990 members 
could retire upon (1) attainment of age 55 with 25 years of credited service; (2) attainment of age 65 
with 10 years of credited service; (3) for public officers in high-risk positions, any age with 30 years of 
credited service; and (4) for Mayors, attainment of age 50 with 8 years of credited service as a Mayor. 
Act No. 1-1990 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013, are eligible to retire upon 
attainment of age 65 with 10 years of credited service. In addition, Act No. 1-1990 public officers in high-
risk positions who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013, are eligible to retire directly from active 
service upon the attainment of age 55 with 30 years of credited service. 
 

c) Eligibility for System 2000 Members: System 2000 members who were eligible to retire as of June 30, 
2013, continue to be eligible to retire at any time. Prior to July 1, 2013, System 2000 members could 
retire upon attainment of age 55 for public officers in high-risk positions and attainment of age 60 
otherwise. 

 
System 2000 members who were not eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013, are eligible to retire upon 
attainment of age 55 for public officers in high-risk positions and upon attainment of the retirement 
eligibility age shown in the table below otherwise.  
 

 
 

Date of birth

Attained age as of 

June 30, 2013

Retirement 

eligibility age

July 1, 1957 or later 55 or less 61

July 1, 1956 to June 30, 1957 56 60

Before July 1, 1956 57 and up 59

Date of birth

Attained age as of 

June 30, 2013

Retirement 

eligibility age

July 1, 1957 or later 55 or less 65

July 1, 1956 to June 30, 1957 56 64

July 1, 1955 to June 30, 1956 57 63

July 1, 1954 to June 30, 1955 58 62

Before July 1, 1954 59 and up 61
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d) Eligibility for Members Hired after June 30, 2013: Attainment of age 58 if a public officer in a high-risk 
position and attainment of age 67 otherwise. 
 

2) Service Retirement Annuity Benefits 
 

An annuity payable for the lifetime of the member equal to the annuitized value of the balance in the hybrid 
contribution account at the time of retirement, plus, for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members, the 
accrued benefit determined as of June 30, 2013. If the balance in the hybrid contribution account was 
$10,000 or less, it would have been paid as a lump sum instead of as an annuity. 

 
a) Accrued Benefit as of June 30, 2013, for Act No. 447-1951 Members: The accrued benefit as of June 30, 

2013, was determined based on the average compensation, as defined, for Act No. 447-1951 members, 
the years of credited service, and the attained age of the member all as of June 30, 2013. For Mayors, 
the highest compensation, as defined, for Act No. 447-1951 members, determined as of June 30, 2013. 
If the Act No. 447-1951 member had at least 30 years of credited service as of June 30, 2013, the accrued 
benefit equals 65% of average compensation if the member was under age 55 as of June 30, 2013, or 
75% of average compensation if the member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013. For participants 
selecting the Coordination Plan, the benefit was recalculated at the Social Security Retirement Age 
(SSRA), as defined, as 1.5% of average compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service, 
up to 30 years, plus 65% (75% if member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013) of average compensation 
in excess of $6,600. 
 
If the Act No. 447-1951 member had less than 30 years of credited service as of June 30, 2013, and 
attained 30 years of credited service by December 31, 2013, the accrued benefit equaled 55% of average 
compensation if the member was under age 55 as of June 30, 2013, or 60% of average compensation if 
the member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013. For participants selecting the Coordination Plan, the 
benefit was recalculated at SSRA as 1.5% of average compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of 
credited service, up to 30 years, plus 55% (60% if member was at least age 55 as of June 30, 2013) of 
average compensation in excess of $6,600. Member contributions received from Act No. 447-1951 
members eligible for this transitory benefit during the period beginning July 1, 2013 and ending upon the 
attainment of 30 years of credited service were considered pre- July 1, 2013, contributions; the 
contributions to the hybrid contribution account begin after the member attains 30 years of credited 
service. 
 
If the Act No. 447-1951 member had less than 30 years of credited service as of December 31, 2013, the 
accrued benefit equaled 1.5% of average compensation multiplied by years of credited service up to 20 
years, plus 2% of average compensation multiplied by years of credited service in excess of 20 years. 
Maximum benefit is 75% of average compensation. Except for the Commonwealth Police and 
Firefighters, the benefit was actuarially reduced for each year payment commences prior to age 58. For 
participants selecting the Coordination Plan, the basic benefit is recalculated at SSRA as 1% of average 
compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service up to 20 years, plus 1.5% of average 
compensation up to $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service in excess of 20 years, plus 1.5% of 
average compensation in excess of $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service up to 20 years, plus 
2.0% of average compensation in excess of $6,600 multiplied by years of credited service in excess of 20 
years. Except for police and firefighters, the benefit was actuarially reduced for each year payment 
commences prior to age 58. 
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For Act No. 447-1951, Mayors with at least 8 years of credited service as a Mayor, the accrued benefit 
was not to be less than 5% of highest compensation, as defined, as a Mayor for each year of credited 
service as a Mayor up to 10 years, plus 1.5% of highest compensation as Mayor for each year of non-
Mayoral credited service up to 20 years, plus 2.0% of highest compensation as Mayor for each year of 
non-Mayoral credited service in excess of 20 years. Non-Mayoral credited service included service earned 
as a Mayor in excess of 10 years. Maximum benefit was 90% of highest compensation as a Mayor. 
 

b) Accrued Benefit as of June 30, 2013, for Act No. 1-1990 Members: The accrued benefit as of June 30, 
2013, is determined based on the average compensation for Act No. 1-1990 members, the years of 
credited service, and the attained age of the member all as of June 30, 2013. For Act No. 1-1990 Mayors, 
the highest compensation as a Mayor was determined as of June 30, 2013. 
 
If the Act No. 1-1990 member is a police officer or firefighter member that had at least 30 years of 
credited service as of June 30, 2013, the accrued benefit equaled 65% of average compensation if the 
member was under age 55 as of June 30, 2013, or 75% of average compensation if the member was at 
least age 55 as of June 30, 2013. 
 
For all other Act No. 1-1990 members, the accrued benefit equaled 1.5% of average compensation 
multiplied by years of credited service. The benefit was actuarially reduced for each year payment 
commences prior to age 65. 
 
For Act No. 1-1990 Mayors with at least 8 years of credited service as a Mayor, the accrued benefit was 
not to be less than 5% of highest compensation as a Mayor for each year of credited service as a Mayor 
up to 10 years, plus 1.5% of highest compensation as Mayor for each year of non-Mayoral credited 
service up to 20 years, plus 2.0% of highest compensation as Mayor for each year of non-Mayoral 
credited service in excess of 20 years. Non-Mayoral credited service included service earned as a Mayor 
in excess of 10 years. Maximum benefit is 90% of highest compensation as a Mayor. 
 

Compulsory Retirement 

All Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 Public Officers in High-Risk Positions were required to retire upon 
attainment of age 58 and 30 years of credited service. A two-year- extension may be requested by the 
member from the Superintendent of the Commonwealth Police, the Chief of the Firefighter Corps, or 
supervising authority as applicable. 
 

3) Termination Benefits 
a) Lump Sum Withdrawal 

Eligibility: A Member was eligible upon termination of service prior to 5 years of service or if the balance 
in the hybrid contribution account is $10,000 or less. 
Benefit: The benefit equaled a lump sum payment of the balance in the hybrid contribution account as 
of the date of the permanent separation of service. 
 

b) Deferred Retirement 
Eligibility: A Member was eligible upon termination of service with 5 or more years of service (10 years 
of credited service for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members) prior to the applicable retirement 
eligibility, provided the member had not taken a lump sum withdrawal of the accumulated contributions 
from the hybrid contribution account. 
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Benefit: An annuity payable for the lifetime of the member commencing at the applicable retirement 
eligibility age equal to the annuitized value of the balance in the hybrid contribution account at the time 
of retirement, plus, for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members, the accrued benefit determined 
as of June 30, 2013. 
 

4) Death Benefits 
a) Pre-retirement Death Benefit 

Eligibility: Any current nonretired member was eligible. 
Benefit: A refund of the hybrid contribution account, plus the accumulated contributions for Act No. 447-
1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members. 
 

b) Postretirement Death Benefit for Members Who Retired prior to July 1, 2013 
Eligibility: Any retiree or disabled member receiving a monthly benefit who had not elected a 
reversionary annuity and whose benefits commenced prior to July 1, 2013. 
Benefit: The benefit is as follows (Act No. 105, as amended by Act No. 4):  
 

i. For those married or with dependent children at the time of death, the annual income to a widow, 
or widower or dependent children is equal to 60% (50% if in the Coordination Plan – 30%, prior to 
January 1, 2004) of the retirement benefit payable for life for a surviving spouse and/or disabled 
children and payable until age 18 (age 25 if pursuing studies) for nondisabled children. If in the 
Coordination Plan, the benefit to the surviving spouse does not begin until the spouse’s attainment 
of age 60 and the surviving spouse must have been married to the member for at least 10 years to 
be eligible for this benefit. The increase in the percentage from 30% to 50% if in the Coordination 
Plan is paid by the Commonwealth for former government employees or by the public enterprise 
or municipality for their former employees. See Act No. 105 of 1969, as amended by Act No. 158 
of 2003. 

 
ii. The benefit, when there is no relation as stated above, is equal to the remaining balance of 

accumulated contributions at the time of retirement after the deduction of lifetime annual income 
paid and is payable to a beneficiary or to the Member’s estate. In no case may the benefit be less 
than $1,000. Either the Commonwealth for former government employees or the public enterprise 
or municipality for their former employees pays the difference, up to $250, between (1) the 
accumulated contributions less the lifetime annual income paid and (2) $1,000. ERS pays for the 
rest. See Article 2-113 of Act No. 447- 1951, as amended by Act No. 524-2004. 

 
c) Postretirement Death Benefit for Members Who Retired after June 30, 2013  

Eligibility: Any retiree or disabled member who began receiving a monthly benefit after June 30, 2013. 
Benefit: If the member elected at the time of retirement to transfer a portion of the annuity to a 
beneficiary by selecting an actuarially equivalent optional form of payment, the applicable survivor 
benefit. 

 
For all members, the excess, if any, of the hybrid contribution account, plus the accumulated 
contributions for Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 members, at the time of retirement over the total 
annuity payments paid to the member and any beneficiary per the terms of the optional form of payment 
must be payable to a beneficiary or the member’s estate. 
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d) Beneficiaries receiving occupational death benefits as of June 30, 2013, continue to be eligible to receive 
such benefits. 
 

5) Disability Benefits 
a) Disability 

Eligibility: All members are eligible upon the occurrence of disability. 
Benefit: The balance of the hybrid contribution account payable as lump sum distribution, an immediate 
annuity, or a deferred annuity at the election of the participant. Act No. 447-1951 and Act No. 1-1990 
members remain eligible to receive the accrued benefit as of June 30, 2013, commencing at the 
applicable retirement eligibility age.  
 

b) High Risk Disability under Act No. 127-1958 
Eligibility: Police, firefighters, and other employees in specified high-risk positions who are disabled in 
the line of work due to reasons specified in Act No. 127-1958 (as amended). 
Benefit: 80% (100% for Act No. 447-1951 members) of compensation as of date of disability, payable as 
an annuity. If the member died while still disabled, this annuity benefit continued to his beneficiaries. 
Beneficiaries include the surviving spouse and/or disabled children (for life), nondisabled children until 
age 18 (age 25 if pursuing studies), and the parents if no other beneficiaries. Effective July 1, 1996, and 
subsequently every three-years, the disability benefit was increased by 3% provided that the member 
(or beneficiary) had been receiving payments for at least three-years (Act No. 127-1958, as amended). 
The cost of these benefits was paid by the Commonwealth. 
 

c) Members who qualified for occupational or nonoccupational disability benefits as of June 30, 2013,   
continue to be eligible to receive such benefits. 
 

6) Special Benefits 
a) Minimum Benefits 

i. Minimum Benefit for Members Who Retired before July 1, 2013 (Act No. 156- 2003, Act No. 35-
2007, and Act No. 3-2013): The minimum monthly lifetime income for members who retired or 
become disabled before July 1, 2013, is $500 per month effective July 1, 2013 ($400 per month 
effective July 1, 2007, and $300 per month up to June 30, 2007). The increase in the minimum 
monthly benefit from $200 per month to $300 per month was paid by the Commonwealth for 
former government and certain public corporations without their own treasuries’ employees or by 
certain public corporations with their own treasuries or municipalities for their former employees. 
The increase in the minimum monthly benefit from $300 per month to $400 per month was to be 
paid by ERS for former government and certain public corporations without their own treasuries’ 
employees or by certain public corporations with their own treasuries or municipalities for their 
former employees. 
 

ii. Coordination Plan Minimum Benefit: A minimum monthly benefit was payable upon attainment of 
SSRA such that the benefit, when added to the Social Security Benefit, was not less than the benefit 
payable prior to SSRA. 
 

b) Cost of Living Adjustments (COLA) to Pension Benefits: The Legislature, from time to time, increased 
pensions by 3% for retired and disabled members. Beneficiaries were not entitled to COLAs granted after 
the retiree’s death. Under the Eight Amended POA, upon its effective date of March 15, 2022, these 
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COLA benefits will be eliminated. 
 

c) Special “Bonus” Benefits 
i. Christmas Bonus (Act No. 144-2005, as Amended by Act No. 3-2013): An annual bonus of $200 for 

each retiree, beneficiary, and disabled member has historically been paid in December provided 
the member retired prior to July 1, 2013.  

ii. Medication Bonus (Act No. 155-2003, as Amended by Act No. 3-2013): An annual bonus of $100 
for each retiree, beneficiary, and disabled member to cover health costs paid in July provided the 
member retired prior to July 1, 2013. Evidence of coverage is not required. The amount is prorated 
if there are multiple beneficiaries.  

 
Before July 1, 2017, the Commonwealth made contributions to the ERS for the special benefits granted by special 
laws. Special benefits to eligible Act 447-1951 participants are being paid by each employer as they become due since 
July 1, 2017. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms - identification of employees included in the actuarial valuation (measurement 
date June 30, 2021) by categories: 

 
 
 

Pension reform, termination of Trust and implementation of GASB Statement No. 73 - On August 23, 2017 the 
Commonwealth enacted Act No. 106 (Act 106-2017) to reform the Commonwealth retirement systems and, among 
other dispositions, provide the necessary legal and operational structure of the determination and payment of 
accrued pension benefits as of June 30, 2017, the reform of ERS’s governance and administration and the creation 
and transition to a new defined contribution plan: 

 
1) Act 106 created a Retirement Board composed of thirteen (13) members (government officials, 

representatives of teachers, judicial system, public corporations and mayors) which replaces the Board of 
Trustees and perform overall governance of all retirement systems, including ERS, the Teachers and Judiciary 
Retirement Systems.  

 
2) Effective July 1, 2017, the Trust is terminated as a pension trust fund, participants ceased to accrue new 

pension benefits and are no longer able to make direct credit payments or to make additional contributions 
to the ERS.  All benefits including retirement, disability, death, and other pensioner additional benefits will 
be determined in accordance with the specific benefit structures under Act 447, Act 1, Act 305 and Act 3, as 
discussed above.  After that date, retirement benefits for retirees of the Commonwealth, the Municipalities 
and other participants of the ERS are guaranteed through a PayGo funding system. Under the PayGo funding, 
the participant employers directly pay the pension benefits as they are due rather than attempt to build up 
assets to pre-fund future benefits. Payments are made by the Commonwealth and reimbursed by the 
employers (PBA) through a PayGo fee.  During the fiscal year 2021-2022 PBA recorded as PayGo expenditures  

Category

Total 

members

Total 

members, PBA

Active members 90,139           898

Inactive members in pay status 

(retirees, disabled members, 

beneficiaries) 123,171         1,140               

Total 213,310         2,038               



PUBLIC BUILDINGS AUTHORITY 
(A Component Unit of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico) 
NOTES TO THE BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2022 

 

41 
 

the amount of $23,015,223 of which $3,743,668 was recorded as intergovernmental payable to 
Commonwealth Government as of June 30, 2022 and subsequently paid. 

 
3) The reform included the creation and procedures for transition to a new defined contribution plan. Act 106-

2017 terminated the previous pension programs as of June 30, 2017. The members of the prior programs 
and the new system members hired on or after July 1, 2017 will be enrolled in the new program. (Discussed 
later in section 2 of this Note). 

 
As disclosed above, pursuant to Act 106-2017, the previous ERS’s pension programs were terminated as of June 30, 
2017 and effective July 1, 2017 the benefit payments are made through a PayGo funding system. The Trust was 
terminated as a pension trust fund and was required by Act 106-2017 to liquidate its assets and transfer the net 
proceeds to the PRDT. Paragraph 4 of GASB Statement No. 68 establishes requirements for pensions that are 
provided through pension plans that are administered through trusts or equivalent arrangements (hereafter jointly 
referred to as trusts) in which the following criteria are met: 
 

a. Contributions from employers and non-employer contributing entities to the pension plan and earnings on 
those contributions are irrevocable. 

b. Pension plan assets are dedicated to providing pensions to plan members in accordance with the benefit 
terms. 

c. Pension plan assets are legally protected from the creditors of employers, nonemployer contributing entities, 
and the pension plan administrator. If the plan is a defined benefit pension plan, plan assets also are legally 
protected from creditors of the plan members. 

 
Since no assets are accumulated in a Trust that meet the above GASB 68 criteria, the Authority follows the guidance 
of GASB Statement No. 73, “Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and Related Assets That Are Not within 
the Scope of GASB Statement 68”. 
 
The Authority’s GASB Statement 73 information for reporting period ending on June 30, 2022, is based on an actuarial 
valuation report dated January 17, 2023, prepared for ERS by Milliman, Inc.  
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B. Significant assumptions  
 
The actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 

 
 

 

Valuation date July 1, 2020, projected forward to June 30, 2021

Measurement date June 30, 2021

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal method

Actuarial assumptions 

compensation increase

3.0% per year, no compensation increases are 

assumed until July 1,2021 as a result of the Act 3-

2017 four year extension of the Act 66-2014 

salary freeze and the current general economy.  

Based on professional judgment and System 

input.

Discount rate 2.16%

Municipal bond rate

2.16% based on Bond General Obligation 20-

Bond Municipal Bond Index

Mortality Pre-retirement mortality:

Post-retirement retiree mortality:

Post-retirement disabled mortality:

Post-retirement beneficiary mortality:

For general employees not covered under Act 127-1958, the PubG-2010 employee rates,

adjusted by 100% for males and 110% for females, projected using MP-2021 on a

generational basis. For members covered under Act 127-1958, the PubS-2010 employee

rates for males and females, projected using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As

generational tables, they reflect mortality improvements both before and after the

measurement date. 100% of deaths while in active service are assumed to be

occupational for members covered under Act 127-1958.

The PubG-2010 healthy retiree rates, adjusted by 100% for males and 110% for females,

projected using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects

mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date. This assumption

is also used for beneficiaries prior to the member’s death. 

The PubG-2010 disabled retiree rates, adjusted by 80% for males and 100% for females,

projected using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects

mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date.

Prior to the retiree’s death, beneficiary mortality is assumed to be the same as the post-

retirement retiree mortality. For periods after the retiree’s death, the PubG-2010(B) 

contingent survivor rates, adjusted by 110% for males and 120% for females, projected 

using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects mortality 

improvements both before and after the measurement date.
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C.  Changes in total pension liability 
 
Changes in total pension liability as of June 30, 2022 (measurement date June 30, 2021) was as follows: 
 

 
D.  Sensitivity analysis 

 
The following presents the total pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.16%, as well as what the total 
pension liability would be if it was calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.16%) or 1 
percentage point higher (3.16%) than the current rate: 

 

 
 

E.  Changes in assumptions 
 
Following is a description of changes in assumptions that affected measurement of the total pension liability since 
the prior measurement date: 
 

1) The index rate and resulting discount rate decreased from 2.21% as of June 30, 2020 to 2.16% as of June 30, 
2021 (measurement date)  
 

2) The postretirement mortality assumptions were revised based on an experience study covering the period 
from July 1, 2013 through June 30, 2018. The base mortality rates reflect the Society of Actuaries Pub-2010 
mortality tables, which were published in January 2019 and are based on public plan experience. For healthy 
retirees and beneficiaries prior to the member’s death, the postretirement mortality base rates were revised 
to 100% and 110% of the Pub-2010 general healthy retiree mortality table for males and females, 

Amount

Balance at July 1, 2020 462,323,819$       

Change for the measurement year:

Service cost 3,885,633              

Interest on total pension liability 30,473,143            

Effect of plan changes -                          

Effect of economic/demographic gains and losses (25,058,801)          

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 12,743,767            

Benefit payments (34,266,205)          

Net changes (12,222,463)          

Balance at June 30, 2021 (measurement date) 450,101,356$       

1% Decrease Discount rate 1% Increase

1.16% 2.16% 3.16%

Total pension liability as of June 30, 2021

(measurement date) 514,243,769$       450,101,356$       398,011,429$       
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respectively. For disabled retirees, the postretirement mortality base rates were revised to 80% and 100% of 
the Pub-2010 general disabled retiree mortality table for males and females, respectively. For beneficiaries 
after the retiree’s death, the postretirement mortality base rates were revised to 110% and 120% of the Pub-
2010 general below median contingent survivor mortality table for males and females, respectively. 

 
3) The preretirement mortality assumption was also revised. For general employees not covered under Act 127-

1958, the preretirement mortality base rates were revised to 100% and 110% of the Pub-2010 general 
employee mortality table for males and females, respectively. For members covered under Act 127-1958, 
the preretirement mortality base rates were revised to the Pub-2010 public safety employee rates. 
 

4) The projected mortality improvement scale was updated from Scale MP-2020 to Scale MP-2021. 
 

F.   Pension expense 
 
Following are the components of the Authority’s pension expense recognized in the accompanying statement of 
activities for the year ended June 30, 2022 (measurement period ending June 30, 2021): 
 

 
 

G.   Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of Resources from Pension Activities 
 
Deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources from pension activities by source reported by the Authority in 
the statement of net position as of June 30, 2022(measurement date as of June 30, 2021) follows: 
 

 

Amount

Service cost 3,885,633$           

Interest on total pension liability 30,473,143           

Effect of plan changes -                         

Recognition (amortization) of deferred inflows/outflows of

resources

Effect of economic/demographic gains and losses (25,058,801)          

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs 12,743,767           

Pension expense 22,043,742$         
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Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the payment of benefits subsequent to the 
measurement date of June 30, 2021 (year ended June 30, 2022) were approximately $20,998,046 and will be 
recognized as a reduction of the total pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2023. Other amounts reported as 
deferred outflows/inflows of resources from pension activities are scheduled to be recognized in pension expense as 
follows: 
 

 
 

  
 
12.  OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS (OPEB) 

 
Employee’s Retirement System of the Government of Puerto Rico and its Instrumentalities Medical Insurance Plan 

Contribution  

1. Plan description  
 
General - PBA The Authority provides healthcare benefits to its retirees under two plans: one covered by Collective 
Bargaining Agreements (CBA) and considered a single-employer plan, and the other through the postemployment 
benefit plan of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for retired participants of ERS, a multi-employer plan.  Both plans 
operate on a pay-as-you-go basis. The Plan administered by the Authority Benefits consists of a maximum monthly 
payment (annuity) to cover medical expenses. Based on the Plan’s features and its functions, and for the purpose 
of the actuarial valuation, it has been identified as a single-employer defined benefit healthcare plan. Participant 
groups covered are (i) employees under a Collective Labor Agreement with “Union Independiente de Empleados 
de la Autoridad de Edificios Públicos” (UIEAEP), and (2) the Authority’s management employees. 
Benefits provided – The Authority’s contribution is limited to $200 monthly per single retired employee up to a 
period of thirty-six months (twelve months for managerial employees). This benefit is included in the collective 
bargaining agreement and will be re-evaluated when the collective bargain agreements are up for renewal.  
Milliman, an international actuarial and consulting firm (Milliman) provide actuarial estimates for active employees 
and those employees who retired early.  Milliman used a measurement date of June 30, 2022. 
 
Once the postemployment benefits covered by collective bargain agreements expire, the Authority’s retirees 
commence participation in the plan administered by the Commonwealth.  Milliman provided actuarial estimates 
for retirees participating in the plan administered by the Commonwealth. Milliman used a measurement date of 
June 30, 2021.  This group of retirees was not included in prior years’ liability for post-employment benefits. 
 
The postemployment benefit plan of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico covers a payment of up to $100 per month 
to the eligible medical insurance plan selected by each member, provided that the member retired prior to July 1, 
2013 (Act No. 483, as amended by Act No. 3). The Plan is financed by the Commonwealth through legislative 
appropriations. However, the Commonwealth claims reimbursements from each employer on a monthly basis for 

Year Ended

June 30, Amount

2022 10,634,203$        

2023 10,634,202          

2024 11,774,064          

33,042,469$        
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the corresponding amount of the OPEB payments made by the Commonwealth in relation to the retirees 
associated with each employer. There is no contribution requirement from the plan members during active 
employment. The retirees contribute the amount of the healthcare insurance premium not covered by the 
Commonwealth contribution. 
 
Under the leveled benefits provided in each plan, the medical cost increases reside with the retiree and, therefore, 
result in a lower OPEB liability for the Authority. 
 
GASB 75 requires participating employers to recognize their proportionate share of the collective total OPEB 
liability, collective deferred outflows of resources, collective deferred inflows of resources and collective OPEB 
expense. 
 
OPEB of Commonwealth 
 
Funding - This OPEB Plan is financed by the Commonwealth on a pay-as-you-go basis. The funding of the OPEB 
benefits is provided to the ERS through legislative appropriations each July 1 by the Commonwealth. The legislative 
appropriations are considered estimates of the payments to be made by the ERS for the healthcare benefits 
throughout the year. After benefits are funded, the Commonwealth claims reimbursement from each employer. 
The Authority’s contribution is financed through the monthly PayGo charge. There is no contribution requirement 
from the plan member during active employment. Retirees contribute the amount of the healthcare insurance 
premium not covered by the Commonwealth contribution. As a result, these OPEB are 100% unfunded. 
 
Employees covered by benefit terms - identification of employees included in the actuarial valuation (measurement 
date June 30, 2021) by categories: 
 

 
 

The Authority’s GASB Statement 75 information for reporting period ending on June 30, 2022, is based on an 

actuarial valuation report dated January 17, 2023, prepared for ERS by Milliman, Inc. 
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Significant assumptions 

The actuarial valuation was determined using the following actuarial methods and assumptions: 

 
 

 
 

 

 

Valuation date July 1, 2020, projected forward to June 30, 2021

Measurement date June 30, 2021

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal method

Actuarial assumptions:

Discount rate 2.16% based on Bond General Obligation 20-Bond 

Municipal Bond Index

Mortality Pre-retirement mortality:

Post-retirement retiree mortality:

For general employees not covered under Act 127-1958, the PubG-2010 employee rates,

adjusted by 100% for males and 110% for females, projected using MP-2021 on a

generational basis. As generational tables, they reflect mortality improvements both before

and after the measurement date. 100% of deaths while in active service are assumed to be

occupational for members covered under Act 127-1958.

The PubG-2010 healthy retiree rates, adjusted by 100% for males and 110% for females,

projected using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects

mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date. This assumption is

also used for beneficiaries prior to the member’s death. 

Post-retirement disabled mortality:

Post-retirement beneficiary mortality:

The PubG-2010 disabled retiree rates, adjusted by 80% for males and 100% for females,

projected using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects

mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date.

Prior to the retiree’s death, beneficiary mortality is assumed to be the same as the post-

retirement retiree mortality. For periods after the retiree’s death, the PubG-2010(B) 

contingent survivor rates, adjusted by 110% for males and 120% for females, projected 

using MP-2021 on a generational basis. As a generational table, it reflects mortality 

improvements both before and after the measurement date.
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2.  Changes in Total OPEB liability of OPEB Plan 
 
Changes in total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022 (measurement date June 30, 2021) was as follows: 
 

 
 

3.  Sensitivity analysis 
 
The following presents the total OPEB liability calculated using the discount rate of 2.16%, as well as what the total 
OPEB liability would be if it was calculated using a discount rate that is 1 percentage point lower (1.16%) or 1 
percentage point higher (3.16%) than the current rate: 

 

 
  

 

4.  OPEB expense 
 
Following are the components of the Authority’s OPEB expense recognized in the accompanying statement of 
activities for the year ended June 30, 2022 (measurement period ending June 30, 2021): 
 

 
 

Amount

Interest on total OPEB liability (522,530)$             

Recognition of deferred inflows/outflows of resources

Effect of economic/demographic gains and losses 899,659                 

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs (183,057)               

OPEB expense 194,072$              
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5.  Deferred Outflow of Resources related to OPEB 
 
Deferred outflow resources related to OPEB pension activities reported by the Authority in the statement of net 
position as of June 30, 2022(measurement date as of June 30, 2021) follows: 
 

 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions resulting from the payment of benefits subsequent to the 
measurement date of June 30, 2021 (year ended June 30, 2022) were $684,669 and will be recognized as a 
reduction of the total OPEB liability in the year ended June 30, 2022. Because all participants of ERS-OPEB are 
inactive, there are no deferred outflows or inflows of resources for changes in actuarial assumptions, economic or 
demographic gains and losses, and changes in proportionate share since these factors are recognized immediately 
during the measurement year. 
 
Actuarial assumptions (CBA) 
 
Discount rate – The discount rate for June 30, 2022, was 3.54%. This represents the municipal bond return rate as 
chosen by the Commonwealth. The source is the Bond Buyer GO 20-Bond Municipal Bond Index, which includes 
tax-exempt general obligation municipal bonds with an average rating of AA/Aa or higher. 
 
Salary increases – 3% per year. No compensation increases were assumed until June 30, 2021 as a result of the Act 
3-2017 four year extension of the Act 66-2014salary freeze and the current general economy. 
 
Monthly reimbursement benefit - All eligible future retirees are assumed to receive the maximum monthly 
reimbursement. The monthly reimbursement for current retirees was assumed to remain at the current level. 
 
Termination – Withdrawal rates vary by employment category, age and service. 
 
Retirement – Rates of retirement vary by employment category, age, and service, and whether the member was 
eligible to retire as of June 30, 2013 for Act 447, Act 1, and System 2000 members. 
 
Disability – Rates are 75% of the six month elimination period rates in the 1987 Commissioners Group Disability 
Table. Rate cease upon eligibility for retirement. 
 
Mortality – All mortality rates are projected on generational basis using the mortality improvement scale MP-2021. 
As a generational table, it reflects mortality improvements both before and after the measurement date. 
 
  Preretirement – PubG.H-2010 Employee Mortality Rates for males and females. 
  Postretirement Healthy Lives – PubG.H-2010 Retiree Mortality Rates for males and females. 
 
Basis for salary increase and demographic assumptions – Except for the mortality assumptions, the assumptions 
described earlier are those utilized in the actuarial valuation of the Puerto Rico Government Employees Retirement 
System for Act 447, Act 1, System 2000 and Act 3 members. The Act 3 members’ assumptions were also used for 

Deferred Outflows 

of Resources

Benefits payments subsequent to measurement 

date (approximately) 684,669$                
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Act 106 members (who participant in the governmental defined contribution plan). As Authority employees hired 
before July 1, 2017 participate in the Puerto Rico Government Employees Retirement System, we believe that using 
those assumptions provides a reasonable estimate of the Authority's Total OPEB liability. The mortality assumption 
reflects the Pub-2010 headcount-weighted general mortality tables from the Society of Actuaries study of public 
plan experience that published in 2020. The mortality improvement scale MP-2021 was published by the Society 
of Actuaries in the fall of 2011. We believe that using these Pub-2010 mortality tables provide a reasonable 
estimate of the Authority's Total OPEB liability. 
 
Special Data Adjustments – Service is based on the elapsed time from data of hire to the valuation date. All 
employees were assumed to be general employees. All retirees were assumed to be eligible for lifetime benefits. 
 
Sensitivity of Total OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
 
The following presents the collective total allocated OPEB liability of CBA Plan at June 30, 2022, were calculated 
using the discount rate of 3.54%, respectively, as well as the Plan’s total allocated OPEB liability if it were calculated 
using the discount rate of one percentage point lower 2.54%) and (4.54%), than current rate: 
 

 
 
Deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources 
 
Because all participants of the ERS Plan are inactive, there are no deferred outflows or inflows of resources as 
changes in actuarial assumptions, economic or demographic gains and losses, and changes in proportionate share 
are recognized immediately during the measurement year. 
 

 
 

 

1% Decrease Discount rate 1% Increase

2.54% 3.54% 4.54%

Total OPEB liability as of June 30, 2021

(measurement date) 14,367,151$       $ 12,419,809          $ 10,806,288          

Deferred 

outfows of 

resources

Deferred 

inflows of 

resources

Differences between actual and expected experience 712,847$        5,083,730$     

Changes in assumptions 2,182,670       3,116,470       

Total 2,895,517$     8,200,200$     
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Amounts reported as deferred outflows/inflows of resources from pension activities as of June 30, 2022 will be recognized in 

the pension expense as follows: 

 

 
 
OPEB Obligation 
 
The net OPEB obligation change for the year ended June 30, 2022, is as following: 
 

 
 

Additional information on the Other Postemployment Benefit Plan of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico for Retired 
Participants of the Employee Retirement System is provided on its standalone Schedules of Employer Allocations 
and Schedules of OPEB Amounts by Employer for the years ended June 30, 2022, a copy of which can be obtained 
from the Employee Retirement System of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico, P.O. Box 42004, San Juan PR 00940-
2004. 

 
13.  VOLUNTARY TERMINATION BENEFITS  
 

On December 08, 2015, the Commonwealth enacted Act No. 211 to establish a program to eligible employees, as 
defined of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico voluntary retire of their employment in an incentivized program until 
they comply with the requirements to retire.  
 
Act 211 early retirement benefits to eligible employees, as defined, consist of a compensation equivalent to sixty 
percent (60%) of each employee salary, the liquidation of vacations and sick leave accrued balances, considering the 
top limit established by Act. No. 66 of 2014.  In addition, employees maintain health plan coverage and employer 
contribution for a maximum term of two (2) years. 

Year 

ended 

June 30 Amount

2023 (610,319)$        

2024 (610,319)          

2025 (610,319)          

2026 (610,319)          

2027 (610,319)          

Thereafter (2,253,088)       

Total (5,304,683)$    

Service cost 467,741$            

Interest on total OPEB liability 324,965              

Effect of economic/demographic gains -                       

Effect of assumptions changes or inputs (2,790,460)          

Benefits payment (317,000)             

Net change in total OPEB liability (2,314,754)          

Total OPEB  liability, beginning 14,734,563         

Total OPEB  liability, ending 12,419,809$       
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On August 23, 2017, the Commonwealth enacted Act No. 106 that repealed Act. No. 211, however, articles 7.1 (a), 
(b), (c) and (d) of Act No. 106 guarantee all the rights and obligations created under Act No. 211. 
 
At June 30, 2022 the financial impact resulting was the recognition of a liability of approximately $6.9 million in the 
balance sheet.   
 
At June 30, 2022, unpaid long-term benefits granted through this program were discounted at 2.73%, depending on 
the employee voluntary termination benefits selected.  
 

14.  CONTINGENT LIABILITIES  
 

a. Litigation – The Authority is a defendant or co-defendant in various lawsuits for alleged breach of contract and 
torts in cases related to construction projects. In addition, the Authority is a defendant or co-defendant in other 
cases related to public liability and labor related matters. Some of the cases related to public liability are covered 
by insurance.  

 
The Authority, based on legal advice, recorded an adequate provision to cover probable losses on the claims not 
fully covered by insurance. In the opinion of legal counsel, any liability in excess of insurance coverage and/or 
the recorded provision that may arise from such claims would not affect the Authority’s financial position or 
operations.  
 
Grants - In the normal course of operations, the Authority receives grants from different Federal Agencies.  The 
grant program is subject to audit, the purpose of which is to ensure compliance with conditions precedent to the 
granting of funds. The expenditures financed by grants are subject to program compliance audits by the grantor 
and passed-through agencies authority in accordance with the requirements of the U.S. Office of Management 
and Budget Uniform Guidance 2 CFR Part 200, in order to assure compliance with grant requirements. If 
expenditures are disallowed due to noncompliance with grant program requirements, the Authority may be 
required to reimburse the grantor or pass-through agencies. Any liability for reimbursement which may arise as 
the result of these audits is not believed to be material. 

 

15. CAPITAL AND OTHER COMMITMENTS 
 

Encumbrances represent commitments related to unperformed contracts for goods or services.  Encumbrances 
outstanding at year end do not constitute expenditures or liabilities because the commitments will be honored 
during the subsequent year or years. 

  
At June 30, 2022, the Authority’s outstanding encumbrances totaled $2.915 million principally for capital 
expenditures ($ .430 million) and maintenance and repairs activities ($2,485 million). 
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16.  BANKRUPTCY 
 

A. PLAN OF ADJUSTMENT 
 
On March 15, 2022, the Effective Date of the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment was satisfied and/or waived by the 
Oversight Board, and the plan became effective.  Accordingly, the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment has been 
confirmed and is currently effective as of the date hereof.  As of the Effective Date, all of the legacy Commonwealth 
general obligation bonds, ERS bonds, and PBA bonds were discharged, and all of the Commonwealth, ERS, and PBA 
obligations and guarantees related thereto were discharged. In addition, all Commonwealth laws that required the 
transfer of funds from the Commonwealth to other entities are deemed preempted, and the Commonwealth has no 
obligation to transfer additional amounts pursuant to those laws.  All of PBA’s obligations to the DRA were also 
discharged in exchange for a 10% cash recovery.   
 
Various categories of PBA bond claims (Classes 1-12, 14):  79% recovery in cash in addition to the New GO Bonds and 
GO CVIs that PBA bondholders receive on account of their guarantee claims against the Commonwealth.  The 
Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment does not implement any changes to the PBA governance structure or PBA 
collective bargaining agreements. 
 
B. PBA LEASES 

 
The Confirmation Order provides that the PBA leases shall be deemed rejected effective upon the earliest to occur of: 
 

1. June 30, 2022; 
2. the date upon which such PBA lease expires in accordance with its terms; 
3. the date upon which PBA enters into a new or amended lease with respect to the leased property subject 

to such PBA Lease;  
4. such other date of which PBA, as lessor, provides written notice to the counterparty to a PBA Lease; and  
5. the date upon which AAFAF, on behalf of the Commonwealth or any Commonwealth agency that is a 
lessee with respect to a PBA Lease, provides written notice to PBA that such PBA lease is rejected (the “Notice 
Date”).  
 

Accordingly, each of the PBA leases was rejected no later than June 30, 2022, unless a new lease is entered before 
that time.  
 
From the Effective Date through the rejection/renegotiation date (i.e. June 30, 2022 or the Notice Date), with respect 
to any PBA lease between PBA, as lessor, and the Commonwealth or any Commonwealth agency, public corporation 
or instrumentality, as lessee, the monthly lease payments shall be limited to the lower of (i) the amount budgeted and 
approved pursuant to a certified fiscal plan and (ii) the monthly costs and expenses associated with the applicable 
leased property. 
 
Any past due accruals on PBA or any Commonwealth entity for Debt Service Rent under a PBA lease is deemed released 
under the Plan. 
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C.  TRANSFER OF FUNDS TO PUERTO RICO TREASURY DEPARTMENT 
 
On January 27,2022 PBA received joint circular letter AAFAF/DH/OGP Núm. 2022-01 with instruction to transfer 
outstanding balance of certain banks accounts to Puerto Rico Treasury Department on or before February 11,2022 in 
order for the Commonwealth to make the payments required by the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment.  As result 
of this request between February 9 and April 4, 2022, $69.4 million was transferred by PBA to the Treasury 
Department. 
 

17.  EXTRAORDINARY ITEM 

As a result of the Authority bankruptcy during the year, an extraordinary item is recorded.  See Note 16. 
 
Based on the agreements in the adjustment plan, PBA gain of $5,317,703,106 which is broken down as follows: 
 

 
 

There are claims pending of litigation that may affect this gain. 
 
For further information, refer to the final versions of the Commonwealth Plan of Adjustment, Findings of Fact, and 
Confirmation Order, which are available at https://cases.primeclerk.com/puertorico/Home-DocketInfo. 
 

18.  SUBSEQUENT EVENTS  
 
The Authority has assessed subsequent events up to November 9, 2023, which is the date when the fundamental 
financial statements became available for issuance. The disclosed subsequent events primarily pertain to matters that 
management deems to be of significant public interest, necessitating disclosure. The PBA has introduced new 
protocols for lease contract negotiations and management, striking a balance between lease contract expenses and 
revenues. Additionally, with regards to outstanding lease contract debts and related matters, the PBA has instituted 
a comprehensive customer service procedure to address unresolved accounts receivables, facilitating the closure of 
outstanding invoices and the reduction of receivables. In summary, the PBA has initiated a comprehensive operational 
overhaul aimed at enabling the Authority to conduct a thorough assessment of resource and maintenance 
requirements while concurrently mitigating risks and reducing costs for both the organization and its clients. 

https://cases.primeclerk.com/puertorico/Home-DocketInfo
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Notes: 

1. On August 23, 2017, the Governor of the Commonwealth signed into law the Act to Guarantee the Payment to Our 

Pensioners and Establish New Plan Defined Contributions for Public Servants (Act No. 106-2017). Act No 106-2017 

established the pay as you go mechanism effective July 1, 2017 for all the Commonwealth's pension plans. Accordingly, 

no assets are accumulated in a qualifying trust. 

 

In the revised June 30, 2022 actuarial valuation, there was a decrease relating to the discount rate from 2.21% in 2020 

to 2.16% in 2021. 

2. The amounts presented in the Schedules were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles. The numbers were derived from valuation and actuarial reports. The full reports are available by the 

Employees' Retirement System. Such preparation requires management of ERS to make a number of estimates and 

assumptions relating to the reported amounts. Due to the inherent nature of these estimates, actual results could 

differ from those estimates. 

3. The total pension liability as of June 30, 2022 was measured as of June 30, 2021 and was determined by an 

actuarial valuation with beginning-of-year census data as of July 1, 2020 that was updated to roll forward the total 

pension liability to June 30, 2021 and assuming no gains or losses. 

 

4. The information presented relates solely to the Authority and not to the Employee's Retirement System of the 

Government of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico as a whole. 

 

5. This information is intended to help users assess the Authority's pension plan's status on a going concern basis, 

assess progress made in accumulating assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons with other public 

employers. 

 

This schedule is required to illustrate 10-years of information.  However, until a 10-years trend has been completed, 
information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 
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Notes: 
 

1. On August 23, 2017, the Governor of the Commonwealth signed into law the Act to Guarantee the Payment 

to Our Pensioners and Establish New Plan Defined Contributions for Public Servants (Act No. 106-2017). Act No 

106-2017 established the pay as you go mechanism effective July 1, 2017 for all the Commonwealth's pension 

plans.  Accordingly, no assets are accumulated in a qualifying trust. 

In the revised June 30, 2021 actuarial valuation, there was a decrease relating to the discount rate from 2.21% in 2020 

to 2.16% in 2021. 

2. The amounts presented in the Schedules were prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting 

principles. The numbers were derived from valuation and actuarial reports. The full reports are available by the 

Employees' Retirement System. Such preparation requires management of ERS to make a number of estimates and 

assumptions relating to the reported amounts.  Due to the inherent nature of these estimates, actual results could 

differ from those estimates. 

3. The OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022 was measured as of June 30, 2021 and was determined by an actuarial 

valuation with beginning-of-year census data as of July 1, 2020 that was updated to roll forward the total pension 

liability to June 30, 2021 and assuming no gains or losses. 

4. The information presented relates solely to the Authority and not to the Employee's Retirement System of 

the Government of the Commonwealth of Puerto Rico as a whole. 

 

5. This information is intended to help users assess the Authority's OPEB plan's status on a going- concern basis, assess 

progress made in accumulating assets to pay benefits when due, and make comparisons with other public employers. 

 

This schedule is required to illustrate 10-years of information. However, until 10-year trend has been completed, 

information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 
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Notes: 

 

1. The above information represents the Authority's Collectively Bargaining Agreements OPEB liabilities. The OPEB plan 

is a single employer OPEB plan. The amounts presented in the Schedules were prepared in accordance with U.S. 

generally accepted accounting principles. The numbers were derived from valuation and actuarial reports. Due to the 

inherent nature of these estimates, actual results could differ from those estimates. 

 

2. The OPEB liability as of June 30, 2022 was measured as of June 30, 2021 and was determined by an actuarial 

valuation with beginning-of-year census data as of July 1, 2022 that was updated to roll forward the total pension 

liability to June 30, 2022 and assuming no gains or losses. 

 

3. This schedule is required to illustrate 10 years of information. However, until 10-years trend has been completed, 

information is presented only for the years for which the required supplementary information is available. 

 

 

 


